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Director-General of Health’s Overview

Innovation, achievement and consolidation have characterised the
Ministry of Health’s 1997/98 year.

I am particularly pleased by the way we have delivered on our key result
areas. These annual goals encapsulate the key areas of work the Ministry
will contribute towards the Government’s desired outcomes for health.
A summary of the work we have done toward the key result areas can
be found from page 55 of this report.

During 1997/98 we made significant progress on, among many other
things, integrated care, consumer safety, occupational regulation, and
information technology. These are key government policies for bringing
about better quality and safer health services for New Zealanders.

Much of this policy work is reflected in innovative health programmes
and arrangements starting up throughout New Zealand. The Ministry
has been working closely with local organisations developing new ways
of providing health services, and has itself, through the New Zealand
Health Information Service, been investigating new ways of using health
information.

1997/98 also saw the consolidation of work on a number of important
ongoing issues. The Ministry managed the establishment of the Health
Funding Authority (HFA), and comprehensive accountability
arrangements are in place between the Minister and the HFA. The Child
Health Strategy was released in June, and will be a major part of our
efforts to improve, promote and protect children’s health.

The Ministry made a major commitment during the year to improve the
quality of its advice to Ministers. We have set up new quality assurance
mechanisms and are forging closer links to people in the sector through
our Chief Advisors. I am confident this effort will add value to the
Government’s investment in the Ministry as its health policy advisor.

By publishing our Strategic Business Plan we have laid out our view of
the future Ministry. It foreshadows a smaller Ministry concentrating on
policy advice, funder monitoring, regulatory responsibilities, and
ministerial servicing. Operational areas of the Ministry, such as Medsafe
(formerly Therapeutics) and the National Radiation Laboratory, are now
set up as business units and, in terms of the Strategic Business Plan, we
are exploring how best for their services to be delivered in the future.
This work gathered momentum during 1997/98 and will continue.
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Additional up-to-date information about the Ministry of Health and
topical public health issues can be obtained from our home page on the
Internet.

Our Internet address is: http://www.moh.govt.nz

My view of the Ministry in the next years is of an organisation providing
the key policy advice and performance monitoring that Ministers need
to achieve better health and disability services for New Zealanders. This
must be based on the best information available in the sector and on the
highest quality policy advice. That we made considerable progress in
1997/98 towards ensuring this happens is testament to the skill and
commitment of the Ministry’s staff.

Karen O Poutasi (Dr)
Director-General of HealthDirector-General of HealthDirector-General of HealthDirector-General of HealthDirector-General of Health
Ministry of HealthMinistry of HealthMinistry of HealthMinistry of HealthMinistry of Health
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Major Outcomes Desired by
Government for 1997/98
The Ministry of Health contributes to the Government’s goal of
improving the overall health status of New Zealanders through its
policy advice, funder monitoring, regulatory, and ministerial servicing
activities.

The Government’s strategic result areas express its desired outcomes
for health. The Ministry contributed to the following strategic result
areas in 1997/98:

• developing sustainable funding arrangements that focus on
maximising health outcomes, and which enable integration of
service delivery and promote quality care

• developments in the provision of comprehensive and integrated
care and support services to maximise the potential of individuals
with mental health and disability support needs, including the
implementation of the mental health strategy

• achieving improvements in the health status of Māori by increased
responsiveness to their needs and the development of appropriate
professional, administrative and organisational expertise

• achieving improvements in health outcomes for priority groups,
particularly children significantly at risk of poor health, by
developing and implementing innovative health promotion and
service delivery strategies

• improving the regulatory and administrative framework for public
health and safety, disability support and accident compensation,
so as to minimise the risks, incidence and impacts of illness and
injury.

Accountabilities Statement
The Director-General of Health was accountable to the Minister of
Health for the delivery of the classes of outputs detailed in the
Statement of Service Performance. The Director-General of Health was
further accountable to the Minister of Health for the management of
the Crown’s investment in the Ministry of Health.
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Statement of Responsibility

The Director-General of Health is responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements for the year ended 30 June 1998, and the judgements
made herein.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the
Public Finance Act 1989.

The Ministry’s internal control procedures provide reasonable assurance
as to the integrity of its financial reporting.

In the opinion of the Director-General of Health, these financial
statements fairly reflect the financial position and operations of the
Ministry of Health for the year ended 30 June 1998.

Karen O Poutasi (Dr) Rajendra P Narayan
Director-General of HealthDirector-General of HealthDirector-General of HealthDirector-General of HealthDirector-General of Health Chief Financial OfficerChief Financial OfficerChief Financial OfficerChief Financial OfficerChief Financial Officer
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Report of the Audit Office
To the readers of the financial statements
of the Ministry of Health for the year ended
30 June 1998

We have audited the financial statements on pages 13 to 110. The financial
statements provide information about the past financial and service
performance of the Ministry of Health and its financial position as at 30
June 1998.  This information is stated in accordance with the accounting
policies set out on pages 13 to 16 and 37 to 39.

Responsibilities of the Director-General
The Public Finance Act 1989 requires the Director-General to prepare
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
practice which fairly reflect the financial position of the Ministry of Health
as at 30 June 1998, the results of its operations and cash flows and the
service performance achievements for the year ended 30 June 1998.

Auditor’s responsibilities
Section 38(1) of the Public Finance Act 1989 requires the Audit Office to
audit the financial statements presented by the Director-General.  It is
the responsibility of the Audit Office to express an independent opinion
on the financial statements and report its opinion to you.

The Controller and Auditor-General has appointed CR Fabling, of Audit
New Zealand, to undertake the audit.

Basis of opinion
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence relevant to the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes
assessing:

• the significant estimates and judgements made by the Director-
General in the preparation of the financial statements, and
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• whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Ministry of
Health’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately
disclosed.

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards in New Zealand.  We planned and performed our audit so as
to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material
misstatements, whether caused by fraud or error.  In forming our opinion,
we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information
in the financial statements.

Other than in our capacity as auditor acting on behalf of the Controller
and Auditor-General, we have no relationship with or interests in the
Ministry of Health.

Unqualified opinion
We have obtained all the information and explanations we have required.
In our opinion, the financial statements of the Ministry of Health on
pages 13 to 110:

• comply with generally accepted accounting practice, and

• fairly reflect:

– the financial position as at 30 June 1998

– the results of its operations and cash flows for the year ended on
that date, and

– the service performance achievements in relation to the
performance targets and other measures set out in the forecast
financial statements for the year ended on that date.

Our audit was completed on 30 September 1998 and our unqualified
opinion is expressed as at that date.

CR Fabling
Audit New Zealand
On behalf of the Controller and Auditor-General
Wellington, New Zealand
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Ministry of Health
Statement of Accounting Policies
for the year ended 30 June 1998

Reporting entity

The Ministry of Health is a government department as defined by
section 2 of the Public Finance Act 1989.

These are the financial statements of the Ministry of Health prepared
pursuant to section 35 of the Public Finance Act 1989. This provides for
the preparation of annual financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, and includes the information
required in the annual financial statements.

In addition, the Ministry has reported the Crown activities and trust
monies that it administers.

Measurement system

The general accounting systems recognised as appropriate for the
measurement and reporting of results and financial position on an
historical cost basis, modified by the revaluation of certain fixed assets,
have been followed.

Accounting policies

Budget figures

The Budget figures are those presented in the Budget Night Estimates
as amended by the Supplementary Estimates and any transfer made by
Order in Council under section 5 of the Public Finance Act 1989.

Revenue

The Ministry derives revenue through the provision of outputs to the
Crown, for service to the third parties and interest on its deposits with
the New Zealand Debt Management Office (NZDMO). Such revenue is
recognised when earned and is reported in the financial period to which
it relates.



Page 14

Cost allocation

The Ministry has determined the cost of outputs using a cost allocation
system that is outlined below.

Cost allocation policy

Direct costs are charged directly to significant activities. Indirect
costs are charged to significant activities based on cost drivers
and related activity/usage information.

Criteria for direct and indirect costs

‘Direct costs’ are the costs directly attributed to an output. ‘Indirect
costs’ are those costs that cannot be identified in an economically
feasible manner, with a specific output.

Direct costs assigned to outputs

Direct costs are charged directly to outputs. Depreciation and
capital charge are charged on the basis of asset utilisation.
Personnel costs are allocated using a time recording system.

For the year ended 30 June 1998, direct costs accounted for 78
percent of the Ministry’s costs (1997: 81 percent).

Basis for assigning indirect and corporate costs to outputs

Indirect costs (Corporate Services) are allocated over the output
classes, based on the proportion of direct costs per project.

For the year ended 30 June 1998, indirect costs accounted for 22
percent of the Ministry’s costs (1997: 19 percent).

Debtors and receivables

Receivables are recorded at estimated realisable value, after providing
for doubtful debts.

Leases

Operating lease payments, where the lessors effectively retain
substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the leased items,
are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

Fixed assets

Land and buildings are stated at net current values as determined by an
independent registered valuer. They are revalued every three years.
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All other fixed assets, or groups of assets forming part of a network,
costing more than $500 are capitalised and recorded at historical cost.

Depreciation

Depreciation of fixed assets, other than work in progress, is provided
on a straight-line basis so as to allocate the cost (or valuation) of assets
to their estimated residual value over their useful lives. The estimated
economic useful lives are:

Buildings 40 years Motor vehicles 5 years

Furniture and fittings 10 years Machinery 5 years

Leasehold improvements 10 years EDP equipment 3 years

Scientific equipment  5 years

Employee entitlements

Provision is made in respect of the Ministry’s liability for annual leave,
long-service leave, retirement and resignation entitlements. Annual leave
has been calculated on an actual entitlement basis at current rates of
pay, while the other provisions have been calculated on an actual
entitlement basis in terms of existing employment contracts.

Statement of cash flows

Cash means cash balances on hand and held in bank accounts.

Operating activities include cash received from all income sources of
the Ministry and record the cash payments made for the supply of goods
and services.

Investing activities are those activities relating to the acquisition and
disposal of non-current assets.

Financing activities comprise capital injections by, or repayment of
capital to, the Crown.

Financial instruments

The Ministry is party to financial instruments as part of its normal
operations. These financial instruments include     bank accounts, short-
term deposits, debtors, and creditors. All financial instruments are
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position and all revenues and
expenses in relation to financial instruments are recognised in the
Statement of Financial Performance.
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Goods and Services Tax (GST)

The Statement of Unappropriated Expenditure and the Statement of
Departmental and Non-Departmental Expenditure and Appropriations
are inclusive of GST. All other statements are GST exclusive. The
Statement of Financial Position is also exclusive of GST except for
Creditors and Payables or Debtors and Receivables, which are GST
inclusive.

The amount of GST owing to or from the Inland Revenue Department
at balance date, being the difference between Output GST and Input
GST, is included in Creditors and Payables or Debtors and Receivables
(as appropriate).

Taxation

Government departments are exempt from the payment of income tax
in terms of the Income Tax Act 1994. Accordingly, no charge for income
tax has been provided for.

Commitments

Future expenses and liabilities to be incurred on contracts that have been
entered into at balance date are disclosed as commitments to the extent
that there are equally unperformed obligations.

Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are disclosed at the point at which the contingency
is evident.

Taxpayers’ funds

This is the Crown’s net investment in the Ministry.

Changes in accounting policies

There have been no changes in accounting policies, including cost
allocation accounting policies, since the date of the last audited financial
statements.
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Ministry of Health
Statement of Financial Performance
for the year ended 30 June 1998

ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET
30/06/97 30/06/98 30/06/98

$000 Notes $000 $000

Revenue
48,458 From the Crown 48,074 48,074
5,338 Other 2 6,473 6,826

356 Interest 3 31 100

54,152 Total Revenue 54,578 55,000

Expenditure
29,828 Personnel Costs 4 30,711 29,953
17,873 Operating Costs 5 17,319 18,799
3,731 Depreciation 3,548 3,726
1,521 Rentals and Leasing 2,087 1,859

456 Capital Charge 6 437 438
125 Audit Fees 125 125

1 Bad Debts Expense 30 0

53,535 Total Expenses 54,257 54,900

617 Net Surplus/(Deficit) 321 100

The accounting policies on pages 13 to 16 and the notes set out on pages 28 to 36 form
part of, and should  be read in conjunction with, these financial statements.
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Ministry of Health
Statement of Movements in Taxpayers’ Funds
for the year ended 30 June 1998

ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET
30/06/97 30/06/98 30/06/98

$000 Notes $000 $000

3,978 Taxpayers’ Funds as at 1 July 3,978 3,978

617 Net Surplus/(Deficit) 321 100

Total Recognised Revenues and
617   Expenses for the Year 321 100

0 Capital Withdrawal 7 (298) (300)
Provision for Repayment

(617)   of Surplus to the Crown 8 (321) (100)

3,978 Taxpayers’ Funds as at 30 June 3,680 3,678

The accounting policies on pages 13 to 16 and the notes set out on pages 28 to 36 form part of, and should  be read in
conjunction with, these financial statements.
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ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET
30/06/97 30/06/98 30/06/98

$000 Notes $000 $000

TAXPAYERS’ FUNDS
3,978 General Funds 3,680 3,678
3,978 Total Taxpayers’ Funds 3,680 3,678

Represented by:
CURRENT ASSETS

2,948 Cash 3,974 2,980
211 Prepayments 195 197

8 Inventories 0 0
 755 Debtors and Receivables 9 778 685

3,922 Total Current Assets 4,947 3,862

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
10,583 Fixed Assets 10 9,815 10,308
10,583 Total Non-current Assets 9,815 10,308

14,505 Total Assets 14,762 14,170

CURRENT LIABILITIES
7,218 Creditors and Payables 11 8,191 7,942

Provision for Repayment of
617   Surplus to the Crown 321 100

  1,796 Employee Entitlements 12 1,946 1,712

9,631 Total Current Liabilities 10,458 9,754

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
308 Creditors and Payables 11 89 150

588 Employee Entitlements 12 535 588

896 Total Non-current Liabilities 624 738

10,527 Total Liabilities 11,082 10,492

3,978 NET ASSETS 3,680 3,678

The accounting policies on pages 13 to 16 and the notes set out on pages 28 to 36 form part of, and should be read in
conjunction with, these financial statements.

Ministry of Health
Statement of Financial Position
as at 30 June 1998
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Ministry of Health
Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 1998

ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET
30/06/97 30/06/98 30/06/98

$000 Notes $000 $000

Cash Flows – Operating Activities

Cash provided from:
48,433   Supply of Outputs to the Crown 48,074 48,074
5,330   Others 7,656 7,295

     395   Interest Received        48      117
54,158 55,778 55,486

Cash disbursed to:
46,062   Producing Outputs 49,353 50,995

456   Capital Charge 6 437 438
  3,529   Net GST Paid      431          0
50,047 50,222 51,433

Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow)
4,111   from Operating Activities 5,557 4,053

Cash Flows – Investing Activities

Cash provided from:
183   Disposal of Fixed Assets 145 396
183 145 396

Cash disbursed to:
6,107   Purchase of Fixed Assets 3,761 3,500
6,107 3,761   3,500

Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from
(5,924)   Investing Activities (3,616) (3,104)

The accounting policies on pages 13 to 16 and the notes set out on pages 28 to 36 form part of, and should be read in
conjunction with, these financial statements.

[Continued on next page]
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Ministry of Health
Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 1998
[Continued from previous page]

ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET
30/06/97 30/06/98 30/06/98

$000 $000 $000

Cash Flows – Financing Activities
Cash disbursed to:

2,031   Repayment of Surplus to the Crown 617 617
       0   Repayment of Capital to the Crown 298 300
2,031 915 917

Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from
(2,031)   Financing Activities (915) (917)

(3,844) Overall Net Change in Cash Held 1,026 32
6,792 Opening Cash Balance 2,948 2,948

2,948 Closing Cash Balance 3,974 2,980

Reconciliation to Cash Balance
2,948 Cash at Bank 3,974 2,980

2,948 Closing Cash Balance 3,974 2,980

The accounting policies on pages 13 to 16 and the notes set out on pages 28 to 36 form part of, and should be read in
conjunction with, these financial statements.
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Ministry of Health
Reconciliation of Net Surplus to Net Cash
Flow from Operating Activities
for the year ended 30 June 1998

ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET
30/06/97 30/06/98 30/06/98

$000 $000 $000

617 Net Surplus/(Deficit) 321 100

Add/(less) Non-cash Items
3,731 Depreciation 3,547 3,726

0 Fixed Asset Write-off 133 0
Increase/(Decrease) in Non-current

  (220)    Liabilities     (51) (158)
3,511 Total Non-Cash Items 3,629 3,568

Add/(Less) Movements in
Working Capital Items

(87) (Increase)/Decrease in Debtors
       and Receivables (26) 70

(175) (Increase)/Decrease in Prepayments 16 14
(112) Increase/(Decrease) in Creditors

   and Payables 893 724
Increase/(Decrease) in Current

401    Employee Entitlements 175 (84)
 (40) Other Items   25 (339)

(13) Working Capital Movements – Net 1,083 385

Add/(Less) Investing Activities Items
Adjustment to Debtors for

0    Investing Activity Items 339 0
Increase/(Decrease) in Fixed

0    Assets Accruals 217 0
  (4) Net Loss/(Gain) on sale of Fixed Assets (32)     0
(4) Total Investing Activity Items 524 0

Net Cash Flow from
4,111 Operating Activities 5,557 4,053

The accounting policies on pages 13 to 16 and the notes set out on pages 28 to 36 form part of, and should be read in
conjunction with, these financial statements.
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The accounting policies on pages 13 to 16 and the notes set out on pages 28 to 36 form part of, and should be read in
conjunction with, these financial statements.

Ministry of Health
Statement of Commitments as at 30 June 1998

The Ministry has medium to long-term leases on its premises in Wellington.
The amounts disclosed below as future commitments are valued on the
current rental rates.

The Ministry has entered into non-cancellable contracts for computer
maintenance, technical support and other contracts for services.

Accommodation Total
30/06/97 Leases Contracts 30/06/98

$000 $000 $000 $000

Operating Lease Commitments

2,599 Less than One Year 1,734 217 1,951
2,234 Between One and Two Years 1,092 0 1,092

4,665 Between Two and Five Years 3,855 0 3,855

 3,551 More than Five Years  1,946     0 1,946

Total operating
13,049     lease commitments 8,627 217 8,844

147 Capital Commitments 0 0
304 Memorandum Account Balances 386 386

13,500 Total Commitments 8,627 603 9,230

Statement of Contingent Liabilities
as at 30 June 1998
The Ministry of Health had nil contingent liabilities as at 30 June 1998.

 30/06/97 30/06/98
$000 $000

100 Legal Proceedings and Disputes 0

100 Total Contingent Liabilities 0
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Memorandum Account
Occupational Registration Boards
for the year ended 30 June 1998

Balance Balance
as at as at

Occupational Boards  1/7/97 Revenue Expenses 30/6/98

$000 $000 $000 $000

Physiotherapy Board 81 273 287 67

Occupational Therapy
   Board 104 177 130 151
Dietitians Board 45 86 63 68
Medical Laboratory
   Technologists Board 72 209 230 51

Medical Radiation
   Technologists Board 41 165 148 58

Psychologists Board (146) 352 379 (173)

Chiropractors Board 21 135 104 52

Opticians Board 91 143 119 115

Podiatrists Board (5) 70 68 (3)

TOTAL 304 1,610 1,528 386

These boards were established to ensure that members of each profession
attain appropriate qualifications and skills before they are admitted to
the register held by each board.  They also administer a disciplinary
system that allows for penalties and sanctions to be imposed on
professionals breaching acceptable standards of practice.

Ministry of Health
Statement of Unappropriated Expenditure
for the year ended 30 June 1998

There was no unappropriated expenditure in any departmental output
class for the year ended 30 June 1998. (1997: Nil).

The accounting policies on pages 13 to 16 and the notes set out on pages 28 to 36 form part of, and should be read in
conjunction with, these financial statements.
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Ministry of Health
Statement of Departmental Expenditure
and Appropriations
for the year ended 30 June 1998
(Figures are GST inclusive where applicable)

30/06/98 30/06/98
Expenditure Appropriation

Actual Voted
$000 $000

VOTE HEALTH
Appropriations for classes of outputs (Mode B Gross)

DI Health Strategic Planning and Policy 14,751 14,790

D2 Health and Disability Services Policy 8,745 8,825

D3 Public Health Policy 6,344 6,354

D4 Health Funding Management 3,249 3,270

D5 Health Regulation and Protection 16,009 16,340

D6 Occupational Registration 1,719 2,041

D7 Ministerial Correspondence and
 Parliamentary Questions 2,224 2,250

(Mode B Net)

D8 Information Services * 7,943 7,803

Total Appropriations for Vote Health 60,984 61,673

VOTE BIOSECURITY
Appropriations for Classes of Outputs
(Mode B Gross)

D12  Policy Advice 87 90

Total  Appropriations for Vote Biosecurity 87 90

Total Appropriations 61,071 61,763

* Expenses incurred pursuant to section 10 of the Public Finance Act 1989 which
allows costs to be incurred up to the amount of trading revenue.

The accounting policies on pages 13 to 16 and the notes set out on pages 28 to 36 form part of, and should be read in
conjunction with, these financial statements.
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Ministry of Health
Output Class Expenditure
for the year ended 30 June 1998

The accounting policies on pages 13 to 16 and the notes set out on pages 28 to 36 form part of, and should be read in
conjunction with, these financial statements.
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Ministry of Health
Statement of Trust Monies
for the year ended 30 June 1998

As at As at
01/07/97 30/06/98

Account $000 Contribution Distribution Revenue Expenses $000

Medicines Review
  Objectors Deposit

  Trust Account 22 10 28 0 0 4

22 10 28 0 0 4

The trust account is set up to hold deposits made by those whose new
medicines applications have been rejected by the Medicines Assessment
Advisory Committee (MAAC). Deposits are made when they request
the Medicines Review Committee to consider their objections to
recommendations made by MAAC. Once the Medicines Review
Committee completes their review, these deposits are refunded to
depositors subject to the deduction of any costs ordered by the
Committee.
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Ministry of Health
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 1998

NOTE 1: Budget composition

30/06/98 30/06/98 30/06/98
Budget Supplementary Budget

Forecasts Estimates Total
Changes*

Notes $000 $000 $000

Revenue
From the Crown 49,043 (969) 48,074
Other 2 5,041 1,785 6,826
Interest 3    300 (200)    100
Total Revenue 54,384 616 55,000

Expenditure
Personnel Costs 4 29,190 763 29,953
Operating Costs 5 20,656 127 20,783
Depreciation 3,800 (74) 3,726
Capital Charge 6     438     0     438
Total Expenses 54,084 816 54,900

Net Surplus/(Deficit) 300 200 100

* This includes transfers made under section 5 of the Public Finance Act 1989.
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NOTE 2: Other revenue

ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET
30/06/97 30/06/98 30/06/98

$000 $000 $000

2,104 Medicines Registration 2,276 2,427
1,431 Annual Practice Certificate 1,499 1,697

648 Service Fees 1,619 1,442
636 Annual Licence and Registration Fees 527 557

4 Gain on Sale of Assets 32 0
515 Other 520 703

5,338 Total Other Revenue 6,473 6,826

NOTE 3: Interest income

The Ministry invests surplus cash with the New Zealand Debt
Management Office (NZDMO) and earns interest at variable rates.

NOTE 4: Personnel

ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET
30/06/97 30/06/98 30/06/98

$000 $000 $000

25,942 Salaries 26,571 26,770
954 Staff Training 984 1,075
655 Superannuation 618 629
429 ACC 658 465
455 Temporary Positions 343 244
451 Recruitment 326 166
942 Other 1,211 604

29,828 Total Personnel 30,711 29,953
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NOTE 5: Operating

ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET
30/06/97 30/06/98 30/06/98

$000 $000 $000

4,665 Travel and Communication 4,730 4,714
1,413 Rental and Leases 921 1,086
4,063 Consultancy Services 3,843 4,872
1,220 Computer Services 872 564
2,679 Professional and Specialists Fees 3,242 2,744

550 Occupancy Costs 573 526
3,283 Other Expenses 3,138 4,293

17,873 Total Operating 17,319 18,799

NOTE 6: Capital charge

The Ministry pays a capital charge to the Crown on its taxpayers’ funds
as at 30 June and 31 December each year. The capital charge rate for this
financial year was 11.0 percent annualised. (1997: 11.5 percent.)

NOTE 7: Capital withdrawal

This capital withdrawal from the Ministry‘s funds was for the transfer
of assets to the Health Funding Authority.
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NOTE 8: Provision for repayment  of surplus to the Crown

ACTUAL ACTUAL
30/06/97 30/06/98

$000 $000

617 Net Surplus/(Deficit) 321

617 Total Provision for Repayment of Surplus 321

NOTE 9: Debtors and receivables

ACTUAL ACTUAL
30/06/97 30/06/98

$000 $000

753 Debtors – Non-Departmental 796
(15) Less: Provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts (18)
738 Net Debtors – Non-Departmental 778

17 Interest Accrued 0

755 Total Debtors and Receivables 778
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NOTE 10: Fixed assets

ACTUAL ACTUAL

30/06/97 30/06/98

$000 $000

1,456 Land and Buildings 1,466
     12 Accumulated Depreciation      24
1,444 Net Current Value 1,442

1,650 Machinery 1,278
   938 Accumulated Depreciation    696
   712 Net Book Value    582

980 Scientific Equipment 1,057
711 Accumulated Depreciation    809
269 Net Book Value    248

21,550 EDP Equipment 23,171
16,171 Accumulated Depreciation 17,815
  5,379 Net Book Value   5,356

1,871 Furniture and Fittings 1,848
1,342 Accumulated Depreciation 1,408
   529 Net Book Value    440

4,628 Leasehold Improvements 4,735
2,769 Accumulated Depreciation 3,228
1,859 Net Book Value 1,507

717 Motor Vehicles 567
326 Accumulated Depreciation 327
391 Net Book Value 240

32,852 Total Fixed Assets 34,122
22,269 Total Accumulated Depreciation 24,307

10,583 Total Carrying Amount of Fixed Assets 9,815
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 NOTE 11: Creditors and payables

ACTUAL ACTUAL
30/06/97 30/06/98

$000 $000

CURRENT LIABILITIES
121 Payables and Provisions – Departments 33

1,181 Payables and Provisions – Non-Departmental 250
264 GST Payable 187
109 Accrued Expenses – Departments 172

2,488 Accrued Expenses – Non-Departmental 4,031
453 Creditors for Fixed Assets 209

0 Provision for Restructuring 80
2,602 Income in Advance 3,229
7,218 Total Current Portion 8,191

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
308 Provision for Restructuring 89
308 Total Non-current Portion 89

7,526 Total Creditors and Payables 8,280
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NOTE 12:  Employee entitlements

ACTUAL ACTUAL
30/06/97 30/06/98

$000 $000

CURRENT LIABILITIES
1,492 Annual Leave 1,540
   304 Payroll    406
1,796 Total Current Portion 1,946

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
 588 Retirement and Long-service Leave 535
588 Total Non-current Portion 535

2,384 Total Employee Entitlements 2,481

NOTE 13:  Financial instruments

The Ministry is party to financial instrument arrangements as part of its
everyday operations. These include instruments such as bank balances,
investments, accounts receivable and trade creditors.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligations to
the Ministry, causing the Ministry to incur a loss. In the normal course
of business, the Ministry incurs risk from bank balances, short-term
investments, accounts receivable and the New Zealand Debt
Management Office (NZDMO). Bank balances are held with
WestpacTrust in accordance with Treasury policy. Short-term deposits
are made with the New Zealand Debt Management Office as per
Treasury instructions. A provision for doubtful debts is maintained in
respect of accounts receivable and this is reassessed on a regular basis.
No collateral is held by the Ministry of Health in respect of bank balances
and short-term investments as the entities dealt with have high credit
ratings. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk for other
financial instruments.
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NOTE 14: Related party transactions

The Ministry is a wholly owned entity of the Crown. The Government
significantly influences the roles of the Ministry as well as being its major
source of revenue.

The Ministry enters into numerous transactions with other government
departments and Crown agencies on an arm’s-length basis. These
transactions are not considered to be related party transactions.

Apart from those transactions described above, the Ministry has not
entered into any related party transactions.

Fair value

The fair value of all financial instruments is equivalent to the carrying
amount disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position.

Currency risk and interest rate risk

The Ministry has no significant exposure to interest rate risk or currency
risk on its financial instruments.

All interest earned on short-term deposits with the NZDMO is returned
to the Crown as part of the surplus repayable to the Crown.
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NOTE 15: Major budget variations

Variance Between

DFR Budget Supplementary Actual DFR and Actual

Forecasts Estimates Expenditure Expenditure

30/06/98 30/06/98 30/06/98 30/06/98

$000 $000 $000 $000

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Other Income 1 5,041 6,826 6,473 1,432
Personnel Costs 2 29,190 29,953 30,711 1,521
Operating Costs 3 20,656 20,783 19,561 (1,095)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Cash was Provided from:
Others 1 5,101 7,295 7,656 2,555

1 The increase in other income in both the statement of financial
performance and statement of cash flows largely represents fee increases
for the psychologists and podiatrists registration boards, as well as
increased volume of examination and licence fees.

2 The increase in personnel costs is due to upskilling of employee levels
within the Ministry as well as previous outsourcing of different activities
now being performed in-house.

3 The decrease in operating costs is offset by the increase in personnel
costs due to less work being outsourced.

DFR:  Departmental Forecast Report
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Ministry of Health
Report on Crown Funds

Statement of Accounting Policies
for the year ended 30 June 1998

Reporting entity

The financial information on pages 40 to 54 represents the Crown funds
managed by the Ministry of  Health on the Crown’s behalf.

This information is provided in addition to that required by section 35
of the Public Finance Act 1989 – expenditure against appropriation.

The information is not, nor does it purport to be, the consolidated
reporting on the output and financial performance of the total health
sector.

The information has been prepared in accordance with generally
accepted accounting practice and other guidelines.

Measurement system

The general accounting systems recognised as appropriate for the
measurement and reporting of results and financial position on an
historical cost basis have been followed.

Accounting policies

Budget figures

The Budget figures, where disclosed, are those presented in the Budget
Night Estimates as amended by the Supplementary Estimates and any
transfer made by Order in Council under section 5 of the Public Finance
Act 1989.

Revenue

Revenue is recognised when earned and is reported in the financial
period to which it relates.
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Expenditure

The liability for some independent service provider payments is
recognised upon a claim being received by the Ministry of Health or by
its agent, rather than when the service is provided.

Debtors and receivables

Receivables are recorded at estimated realisable value.

Investments

Investments are recorded on a historical cost basis.

Financial instruments

Non-departmental output classes are a party to financial instruments as
part of their normal operations. These financial instruments include bank
accounts, short-term deposits, debtors and creditors. All financial
instruments are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position and
all revenue and expenses in relation to financial instruments are
recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

The Statement of Commitments is exclusive of GST. All other statements
are inclusive of GST. The Statement of Financial Performance is also
inclusive of GST, except for Reimbursement from ACC, which is GST
exclusive.

The amount of GST owing to or from the Inland Revenue Department
at balance date, being the difference between Output GST and Input
GST, is included in Creditors and Payables or Debtors and Receivables
(as appropriate).

Commitments

Future expenses and liabilities to be incurred on contracts that have been
entered into at balance date are disclosed as commitments to the extent
that there are equally unperformed obligations.

Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are disclosed at the point at which the contingency
is evident.
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Net Crown assets

This is the Crown’s net investment managed by the Ministry of Health.

Changes in accounting policies

There have been no changes in accounting policies since the date of the
last audited financial statements.
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Crown Funds Managed by the
Ministry of Health
Statement of Financial Performance
for the year ended 30 June 1998

NZDMO: New Zealand Debt Management Office

ACC: Accident Rehabilitation and Compensation Insurance Corporation

RHMU: Residual Health Management Unit

HFA: Health Funding Authority

ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET
30/06/97 30/06/98 30/06/98

$000 Notes $000 $000

Revenue
NZDMO for Payments on

5,396,467   Behalf of the Crown 5,747,489 5,735,491
103,219 Reimbursement from ACC 1 118,322 119,491

4,351 Capital Charge Reimbursement 3,795 3,794
1,188 Rental from RHMU 949 920

63 Interest on Loans and Advances 46 49
7 Miscellaneous Income 0 0

5,505,295 Total Revenue 5,870,601 5,859,745

Expenditure
5,212,439 Payments to HFA 2 5,621,775 5,621,775

66,447 Independent Service Providers 3 15,178 15,725
Management of Residual

3,589     Health Liabilities 2,922 3,123
111,086 Crown Revenue Repaid to the Crown 123,431 124,542
95,646 Public Health Service Purchasing 101,238 101,240

0 Biosecurity Purchasing 53 60
Provision for Long-term

12,053     Investment Writedown 0 0
2,199 Other  Expenses 23,877 29,689

5,503,459 Total Expenses 5,888,474 5,896,154

1,836 Net Surplus/(Deficit) (17,873) (36,409)

The accounting policies on pages 37 to 39 and the notes set out on pages 50 to 54 form part of, and should be read in
conjunction with, these financial statements. For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the
results of its operations of the period, reference should be made to the consolidated audited Crown Financial

Statements for the year ended 30 June 1998.
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Crown Funds Managed by the
Ministry of Health
Statement of Movements in Net Crown Assets
for the year ended 30 June 1998

The accounting policies on pages 37 to 39 and the notes set out on pages 50 to 54 form part of, and should be read in
conjunction with, these financial statements. For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the
results of its operations of the period, reference should be made to the consolidated audited Crown Financial

Statements for the year ended 30 June 1998.

ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET
30/06/97 30/06/98 30/06/98

$000 $000 $000

(364,937) Crown Equity as at 1 July (366,646) (366,646)

1,836 Net Surplus/(Deficit) (17,873) (36,409)

Total Recognised Revenues
1,836   and Expenses for the Year (17,873) (36,409)

Prior Year Cash Surplus
(3,545)   Returned to NZDMO (47,422) (47,423)

(366,646) Crown Equity as at 30 June (431,941) (450,478)

NZDMO: New Zealand Debt Management Office
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Crown Funds Managed by the
Ministry of Health
Statement of Financial Position
as at 30 June 1998

ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET
30/06/97 30/06/98 30/06/98

$000 Notes $000 $000

(366,646) Crown Equity (431,941) (450,478)

Represented by:
Current Assets

50,215 Cash 4 6,213 1,275
Accounts Receivable and

2,724    Prepayments 5    3,696 2,365

52,939 Total Current Assets 9,909 3,640

Non-current Assets
35,700 Investments 6 36,247 36,250
     748 Long-term Advances 7      615       663
36,448 Total Non-current Assets 36,862 36,913

89,387 Total Assets 46,771 40,553

Current Liabilities
456,033 Accounts Payable 8 478,712 491,031
456,033 Total Current Liabilities 478,712 491,031

456,033 Total Liabilities 478,712 491,031

(366,646) Total Net Crown Assets (431,941) (450,478)

The accounting policies on pages 37 to 39 and the notes set out on pages 50 to 54 form part of, and should be read in
conjunction with, these financial statements. For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the
results of its operations of the period, reference should be made to the consolidated audited Crown Financial

Statements for the year ended 30 June 1997.
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ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET
30/06/97 30/06/98 30/06/98

$000 $000 $000

Cash Flows – Operating Activities

Cash provided from:

  NZDMO for Payments
5,396,467     on Behalf of the Crown 5,747,489 5,735,491

110,926   Receipts on Behalf of Crown 123,312 124,471
5,507,393 5,870,801 5,859,962

Cash disbursed for:
5,334,106   Cost of Producing Outputs 5,742,000 5,734,941

111,086   Crown Revenue Paid to NZDMO  123,431 124,542
      861   Net GST Paid        1,527       1,517

5,446,053 5,866,958 5,861,000
Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow)

61,340   from Operating Activities 3,843 (1,038)

Cash Flows – Investing Activities

Cash provided from:
167   Repayment of Loan Principal 124 71
167 124 71

Cash disbursed for:
14,946   Purchase of Investments 547 550
14,946 547 550

Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow)
(14,779)   from Investing Activities (423) (479)

Crown Funds Managed by the
Ministry of Health
Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 1998

The accounting policies on pages 37 to 39 and the notes set out on pages 50 to 54 form part of, and should be read in
conjunction with, these financial statements. For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the
results of its operations of the period, reference should be made to the consolidated audited Crown Financial

Statements for the year ended 30 June 1998.

[Continued on next page]
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ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET
30/06/97 30/06/98 30/06/98

$000 $000 $000

Cash Flows – Financing Activities
Cash disbursed for:
  Prior Year Cash Surplus

3,545   Returned to NZDMO 47,422 47,423
3,545 47,422 47,423

Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow)
  (3,545)   from Financing Activities (47,422) (47,423)

43,016  Net Increase in Cash Held (44,002) (48,940)

7,199  Add Opening Cash 50,215 50,215

50,215  Closing Cash 6,213 1,275

NZDMO: New Zealand Debt Management Office

Crown Funds Managed by the
Ministry of Health
Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 1998
[Continued from previous page]

The accounting policies on pages 37 to 39 and the notes set out on pages 50 to 54 form part of, and should be read in
conjunction with, these financial statements. For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the
results of its operations of the period, reference should be made to the consolidated audited Crown Financial

Statements for the year ended 30 June 1998.
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Crown Funds Managed by the
Ministry of Health
Reconciliation of Net Surplus to Net
Cash Flow from Operating Activities
for the year ended 30 June 1998

ACTUAL ACTUAL
30/06/97 30/06/98

$000 $000

1,836 Net Surplus/(Deficit) (17,873)

Add/(Less) Non-cash Items:
(Increase)/Decrease in Accounts Receivable

2,514    and Prepayments (972)
44,948 (Increase)/Decrease in Accounts Payable 22,680
47,462 Working Capital Movement – Net 21,708

Add/(Less) Movements in Working Capital Items:
Add/(Less) Provision for Long-term

12,053    Investment Writedown 0
(167) Add/(Less) Repayments of Loan Principal (125)

Add/(Less) Long-term Loans Transferred
     139   to Current Assets    114

12,025 Total Investing Activity Items (11)

Add/(Less) Movements in Other Items:
Add Net Doctors’ Suspensory Loans

17   Written Off 19

       17 Total Other Expenses        19
59,504 21,716

61,340 Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities 3,843

The accounting policies on pages 37 to 39 and the notes set out on pages 50 to 54 form part of, and should be read in
conjunction with, these financial statements. For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the
results of its operations of the period, reference should be made to the consolidated audited Crown Financial

Statements for the year ended 30 June 1998.
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ACTUAL ACTUAL
 30/06/97 30/06/98

$000 $000

Operating Commitments
69,471 Less than One Year 74
8,218 Between One and Two Years 320

632 Between Two and Five Years 0
0 Over Five Years 0

78,321 Total Commitments 394

Statement of Contingent Liabilities
as at 30 June 1998

ACTUAL ACTUAL
 30/06/97 30/06/98

$000 Notes $000

11,582 Legal Proceedings and Disputes 9 52,132

11,582 Total Contingent Liabilities 52,132

Crown Funds Managed by the
Ministry of Health
Statement of Commitments
as at 30 June 1998

As at 30 June 1998 the Crown had the following non-cancellable operating
contracts for the supply of goods and services.

The accounting policies on pages 37 to 39 and the notes set out on pages 50 to 54 form part of, and should be read in
conjunction with, these financial statements. For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the
results of its operations of the period, reference should be made to the consolidated audited Crown Financial

Statements for the year ended 30 June 1998.
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Crown Funds Managed by the
Ministry of Health
Statement of Unappropriated Expenditure
for the year ended 30 June 1998

The accounting policies on pages 37 to 39 and the notes set out on pages 50 to 54 form part of, and should be read in
conjunction with, these financial statements. For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the
results of its operations of the period, reference should be made to the consolidated audited Crown Financial

Statements for the year ended 30 June 1998.

UNAPPROPRIATED
ACTUAL EXPENDITURE

30/06/97 30/06/98
$000 $000

142 Health and Disability Advocacy Services 0

142 Total Unappropriated Expenditure 0

There was no unappropriated expenditure for the year ended 30 June 1998.
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Crown Funds Managed by the
Ministry of Health
Statement of Non-Departmental Expenditure
and Appropriations
for the year ended 30 June 1998
(Figures are GST inclusive where applicable)

Actual Appropriation
Expenditure Voted

30/06/98 30/06/98
$000 $000

Appropriations for Non-Departmental Output Classes

O1 Personal Health Services:  Northern 1,337,263 1,337,263

O2 Personal Health Services:  Midland 843,803 843,803

O3 Personal Health Services:  Central 981,321 981,321

O4 Personal Health Services:  Southern 910,265 910,265

O5 Disability Health Services:  Northern 465,524 465,524

O6 Disability Health Services:  Midland 284,539 284,539

O7 Disability Health Services:  Central 360,964 360,964

O8 Disability Health Services:  Southern 342,125 342,125

O9 Public Health Service Purchasing 101,238 101,240

O10 Health Services for Ineligible People
   Whose Debts are Unrecoverable 2,024 2,024

O11 Management of Residual Liabilities
  and Crown Health Enterprise Debt 2,922 3,123

O12 National Advisory and Support Services 1,609 1,757

O13 Advice on Food Standards 1,268 1,667

O14 Health and Disability Advocacy Services 10,277 10,277

O15 Health Research 0 0

O16 Elective Services Backlog Reduction 95,971 95,971

Total Appropriations for Non-
  Departmental Output Classes 5,741,113 5,741,863

The accounting policies on pages 37 to 39 and the notes set out on pages 50 to 54 form part of, and should be read in
conjunction with, these financial statements. For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the
results of its operations of the period, reference should be made to the consolidated audited Crown Financial

Statements for the year ended 30 June 1998.

[Continued on next page]
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Actual Appropriation
Expenditure Voted

30/06/98 30/06/98
$000 $000

Other Expenses to be Incurred
  by the Crown
Australian Kidney Foundation 15 15
International Health Organisations 1,652 1,652
Legal Expenses    675 5,835
Provider Development 21,512 22,187

Total Appropriations for Other
  Expenses to be Incurred by the Crown 23,854 29,689

Capital Contributions to Other
  Persons or Organisations
Capital Contributions to HFA 35,209 35,212
Mental Health Commission                250      250

Total Appropriations for Capital Contributions
  to Other Persons or Organisations 35,459 35,462

Total Appropriations for Vote Health 5,800,426 5,807,014

Appropriations for Non-Departmental
  Output Classes
04    Biosecurity 53 60

Total Appropriations for Vote Biosecurity 53 60

Total Appropriations 5,800,479 5,807,074

HFA:  Health Funding Authority

Crown Funds Managed by the
Ministry of Health
Statement of Non-Departmental Expenditure
and Appropriations
for the year ended 30 June 1998

The accounting policies on pages 37 to 39 and the notes set out on pages 50 to 54 form part of, and should be read in
conjunction with, these financial statements. For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the
results of its operations of the period, reference should be made to the consolidated audited Crown Financial

Statements for the year ended 30 June 1998.

[Continued from previous page]
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NOTE 1: Reimbursement from ACC

With the introduction of the Accident Rehabilitation and Compensation
Insurance Act 1992, the Accident Rehabilitation and Compensation
Insurance Corporation is liable for the health care costs incurred for
treatment of accident victims.  The Ministry of Health, on behalf of the
Crown, charges the public health care costs to the Corporation in
pursuance of the Act.

These are reimbursements received during the 1997/98 financial year
from the Corporation for:

ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET

30/6/97 30/6/98 30/6/98

$000 $000 $000

General Medical Services Benefits Received by
19,108   Doctors in Treating Accident Victims 17,610 18,779

Public Hospital Costs Arising from
53,317   Motor Vehicle Accidents 36,883 36,883

Public Hospital Costs Arising from
30,526   Work-Related Accidents 24,352 24,352

Public Hospital Costs Arising from
0   Earners‘ Non-work-Related Accidents 39,209 39,209

Reimbursement of Certificate and
268   Laboratory Costs 268 268

103,219 Total ACC Reimbursements 118,322 119,491

Crown Funds Managed by the
Ministry of Health
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 1998
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NOTE 2: Payments to HFA

ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET
30/06/97 30/06/98 30/06/98

$000 $000 $000

Personal Health Services
1,224,066 Northern Region of the HFA 1,337,263 1,337,263

790,798 Midland Region of the HFA 843,803 843,803

932,598 Central Region of the HFA 981,321 981,321

858,474 Southern Region of the HFA 910,265 910,265

3,805,936 Total Personal Health Services 4,072,652 4,072,652

Disability Support Services
429,176 Northern Region of the HFA 465,524 465,524

267,804 Midland Region of the HFA 284,539 284,539

345,031 Central Region of the HFA 360,964 360,964

   321,343 Southern Region of the HFA     342,125     342,125

Total Disability
1,363,354     Support Services 1,453,152 1,453,152

43,149 Elective Services Backlog Reduction 95,971 95,971

5,212,439 Total Payments to HFA 5,621,775 5,621,775
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NOTE 3: Independent service providers

ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET
30/06/97 30/06/98 30/06/98

$000 $000 $000

1,732 National Advisory and Support Services 1,609 1,757
9,523 Health and Disability Advocacy Services 10,277 10,277

25,156 Health Research 0 0
25,100 Additional Health Services 0 0
1,076 Transitional Health Authority Establishment   0 0

Health Services for Ineligible People
2,193   whose Debts are Unrecoverable 2,024 2,024
1,667 Advice on Food Standards 1,268 1,667

66,447 Total Independent Service Providers 15,178 15,725
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NOTE 4: Cash

The balance represents funds drawn down from Treasury’s New Zealand
Debt Management Office for payments on behalf of the Crown, but not
yet paid, and GST payable to the Inland Revenue Department on receipts
on behalf of the Crown.

NOTE 5: Accounts receivable and prepayments

ACTUAL ACTUAL
30/06/97 30/06/98

$000 $000

1,970 Trade and Other Debtors 2,902
73 Advances – Current Portion 59

681 Prepayments 735

2,724 Total Accounts Receivable and Prepayments 3,696

NOTE 6: Investments

ACTUAL ACTUAL
30/06/97 30/06/98

$000 $000

34,912 HFA National Office 35,209
788 Health and Disability Commissioner 788

0 Mental Health Commission 250

35,700 Total Investments 36,247

The four regional health authorities reflected in last year‘s Annual Report
have been disestablished, with all assets being transferred to the HFA.
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NOTE 7: Long-term advances

ACTUAL ACTUAL
30/06/97 30/06/98

$000 $000

705 Private Hospital and Group Practice Loans* 602
43 Doctors’ Loans** 13

748 Total Long-term Advances 615

* Long-term advances were made to private hospitals and group practices to assist in

their establishment.

** These incentive loans were made to medical practitioners to assist them to set up

practice in rural and remote areas.

NOTE 8: Accounts payable

ACTUAL ACTUAL
30/06/97 30/06/98

$000 $000

352,147 Personal Health Services 339,391
71,783 Disability Support Services 121,093
18,371 Elective Services Backlog Reduction 0
10,067 Public Health Service Purchasing 10,605

637 Independent Service Providers 1,146
48 Other Expenses 5,024

2,980 GST Payable on Crown Receipts 1,453

456,033 Total Accounts Payable 478,712

NOTE 9: Contingent liabilities

The increase in legal proceedings and disputes is due to Hepatitis C
claims made against the Crown by recipients of contaminated blood
and blood products.

NOTE 10: Major budget variations

There are no significant variations between budget and actual amounts.
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1997/1998 Statement of Service
Performance

The Ministry of Health’s key result areas for
1997/1998
The key result areas (KRAs) are the Ministry’s strategic goals in support
of the Government’s strategic result areas for health.  The KRAs are
included in the Purchase Agreement between the Minister of Health
and the Director-General of Health.  The Ministry’s KRAs for 1997/1998,
and summary of achievements were as follows:

 KRA 1: Transitional Health Authority
 I will facilitate and support the transition to a single, national funding
agency by working with the Transitional Health Authority to develop
and implement the new funding environment and monitor and report
on progress with this, including any associated risks.  I will minimise
duplication of effort with the Transitional Health Authority.

 In order to achieve this I will:

(a) by 30 September 1997, agree on protocols with the Executive
Chairman and/or the Chief Executive of the Transitional Health
Authority relating to:

i. the roles and responsibilities of the Ministry and the
Transitional Health Authority/single national funding agency
as defined by the Government; and

ii. any intra-year transfers

(b) by 30 September 1997, in consultation with the Transitional Health
Authority, develop and implement strategies to manage the risks
associated with the transition to a single national funding agency

(c) report quarterly on progress of the Transitional Health Authority
in implementing the transition to a single national funding agency
including management of risks.
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Key result area summary
This key result area has been achieved. Major aspects include the
development of proposals and Cabinet decisions on: the membership of
the Board of the Health Funding Authority (HFA), as from 8 January
1998; the relative roles and responsibilities of the Ministry and the HFA;
and the accountability framework for the HFA.

The single funding authority is now in place (the HFA). Considerable
progress has been made in establishing the relative roles of the HFA
and the Ministry. This will minimise duplication of activity and create
the capacity for efficiency gains.  Savings proposals were considered
and agreed during the 1998/99 budget process.  Agreement was reached
with the HFA on the functions to be transferred from the Ministry, and
these transfers were implemented.

The national funding agency will bring coherence and consistency to
health funding in accordance with the Government’s policy.

KRA 2: Restructuring Policy
I will lead and oversee the implementation of the Government’s policy
direction for the development of the health and disability sector
following on from the work of the Steering Group on Health and
Disability Sector Change arising from the Coalition Agreement.

 In order to achieve this I will:

(a) by 30 July 1997, develop an integrated work programme to carry
forward the work of the Steering Group, including identification of
those agencies most appropriate to undertake specific items of work,
co-ordinate and report monthly on progress

(b) by 30 September 1997,  provide advice on options for giving effect
to the policy direction with a view to obtaining Cabinet decisions
by 14 October 1997

(c) by 30 November 1997 (subject to Cabinet decisions on policy being
made by mid-October 1997), develop draft legislation ready for
introduction to support the implementation of the preferred options

(d) by 28 February 1998, in consultation with other agencies develop a
co-ordinated change strategy and plans for implementing the
required changes to agency functions, roles, responsibilities and
changes to policy settings and the regulatory environment
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(e) by 30 June 1998, lead and co-ordinate the change process, monitor
and report each quarter on any risks, including strategies for
managing these.

Key result area summary
Work towards the achievement of this key result area has concluded.
The single national funder came into being on 8 January 1998.  The
Government, in accordance with the terms of the Coalition Agreement,
sought a ‘flexible modern properly funded accessible health service that
meets changing health needs and expectation’.  The work of the Steering
Group and subsequent restructuring policy gives effect to the
Government’s intent.

KRA 3: Regulatory Environment
I will develop and implement an integrated policy and regulatory
framework for the health and disability sector which achieves an
environment that is conducive to sector innovation within the
Government’s objectives, which will foster the achievement of desirable
health and disability outcomes.

In order to achieve this I will:

(a) by 30 September 1997,  provide preliminary advice on options for
changes to the current regulatory regime critical for improving
service continuity and health outcomes by, for example, removing
barriers to innovation and integrated care

(b) by 30 December 1997, develop policies and by 30 March 1998
develop legislation to support the implementation of changes to
regulatory activity agreed by the Minister

(c) by 31 October 1997 (subject to Cabinet policy decisions by 30 August
1997), draft legislation for people with intellectual disability

(d) by 30 March 1998 (subject to Cabinet policy decisions by 30
November 1997), draft legislation (departmental draft) on consumer
safety.

Key result area summary
The Ministry undertook a comprehensive scoping of the role of
Government in regulating the health sector in order to identify the
opportunities to reduce inflexibility in labour markets, improve co-
ordination of care, and provide incentives for better patient management.
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A major review of all public health legislation is also under way.  A
consultation draft has been developed and was circulated in the first
instance to other government departments.  The proposed public health
regulatory framework is flexible, and is focused on risk management
and outcomes.

The 1998 legislative programme on health and disability was finalised
during the third quarter, and policy and legislative timelines have been
achieved.  The legislative programme, in respect of the regulatory
environment, includes the following items: Intellectual Disability
(Compulsory Care); Mental Health (Compulsory Assessment and
Treatment); Health (Blood Services) Amendment; Safety of Health and
Disability Services Reform; and Medicines Amendment.  In addition,
policy work is progressing for the following items not yet on the
legislative programme: Therapeutic Products Bill, Wine Makers
Amendment Bill, and Pharmacy and Optometry.  Nurse prescribing
initiatives were established in two areas: family and child health, and
health of the elderly.

 KRA 4: Sustainable Funding
I will build on the work undertaken in 1996/1997 and further enhance
management of the Government’s health sector funding and the
management of sector fiscal risk by identifying options and
implementing, as required, a sustainable funding regime for Vote Health.

In order to achieve this I will:

(a) by 30 September 1997,  have provided a forum for fostering debate
and the dissemination of information,  to enhance sector and
public understanding of the health funding environment,
including pressure and choices within the constraints of a reasonable
funding path

(b) by 31 December 1997,  and in conjunction with the Transitional
Health Authority, provide policy advice to the Minister of Health
on options for reconciling fixed funding of the Transitional Health
Authority/funder with unmet demand for services

(c) by 31 December 1997, provide advice to the Minister of Health on
the implementation of Crown Health Enterprise (CHE) deficit switch
options
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(d) provide advice on health funding that draws together Vote Health
and Vote CHEs for the 1998 budget and for out-years

(e) by 31 December 1997, provide policy advice on personal health,
disability support services and public health ring-fences

(f) by 30 September 1997, provide advice on the steps and funding
needed to achieve the Government’s objectives on waiting times.

Key result area summary
The Ministry has taken advantage of opportunities to foster public debate
and disseminate information to enhance understanding of the health-
funding environment. A very successful media forum for key health
journalists was held in November 1997. Advice has been tendered to
the Minister of Health on:  reconciling fixed funding with unmet demand;
CHE deficit switches; drawing together Vote Health and Vote CHEs;
the appropriation structure of the funder; and consideration of the splits
between personal health services, disability support services and public
health service purchasing.  The work that the Ministry has undertaken
has contributed to the Government’s Coalition Agreement objective of
a ‘properly funded accessible health service’.

KRA 5: Health Gain
I will oversee the implementation of the Government’s strategies for
health gain in respect of Mäori health and the Government’s other
priority areas of enhanced mental and child health outputs.  I will achieve
this by facilitating and contributing to intersectoral collaboration to
enhance the contribution from the health and disability sector.

In order to achieve this I will:

(a) by 30 June 1998, have led the accelerated development and
improvement of mental health services by:

i. ensuring that the Government’s intentions for the Mason dollar
expenditure are met

 ii. working closely with the Transitional Health Authority and
the Mental Health Commission to ensure focus in the sector on
increasing and improving services for Mäori, children and
young people
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iii. clarifying the impact of acute demand on the sector’s capacity
to deliver services

 iv. working closely with the Transitional Health Authority, Mental
Health Commission, and Ministry of Education to develop a
National Mental Health Workforce Strategy

(b) by 30 June 1998, evaluate the strategies being implemented by the
Transitional Health Authority in terms of their impact on the
strategic directions for the accelerated health improvement for Mäori
by the health and disability sector

(c) by 30 June 1998,  promote the accelerated development of the Mäori
health workforce and competent Mäori service providers and report
quarterly on progress

(d) by 30 June 1998, having regard to Cabinet decision (97) M 6/2,
develop policy on effective health sector interventions for
families at risk and continue  to contribute to the development of
the Government’s intersectoral Strengthening Families strategy

(e) by 30 June 1998, in close consultation with the Transitional Health
Authority, have developed budget proposals for child health and
have consulted on and completed for implementation by the
Transitional Health Authority from 1 July 1998, a national  strategy
for improvement in child health with a particular focus on Mäori
children, Pacific Island children and children with special needs,
which also identifies the contribution of the health sector to the
intersectoral Strengthening Families strategy.

Key result area summary
The Ministry has closely monitored the HFA on Mason mental health
expenditure, and has hosted meetings to bring together providers of
child and youth mental health services and the HFA.

Consultation on the Child Health strategy has been completed, and the
final version approved by Cabinet ready for release early in 1998/99.
The strategy provides a framework which builds on the positive
innovation already occurring in the sector, and identifies steps that
providers will have to take to improve child health outcomes.

The Ministry has worked closely with the HFA, and education and
welfare agencies to support the extension of the local co-ordination
initiative of the Government’s Strengthening Families strategy, focused
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on better co-ordination of community services for high-risk families.
Ministry representatives also provided input to the intersectoral working
groups which developed the policy proposals presented to Cabinet, the
subsequent development of the prototype Family Start services, and their
evaluation. These prototypes are focused on improving the life outcomes
of children in families at risk.

Activities undertaken to support Mäori health gain have been developed
both as part of generic policy and in specific Mäori policy.  In the area of
generic policy, Mäori health gain has been addressed in the following:
the Child Health strategy; the Strengthening Families strategy (including
the Early Start programme development); the Moving Forward strategy
for mental health developed by the Ministry of Health; the draft mental
health blueprint developed by the draft Mental Health Commission; and
the Youth Suicide strategy developed jointly by Te Puni Kōkiri, Youth
Affairs and the Ministry of Health.

In the area of specific Mäori health policy,  Mäori health gain has been
addressed in the following policies: Mäori Provider Development
Scheme, which became operational in December 1997; approval of the
bridging programme in the Vision 2020 proposal at the Auckland
Medical School; the release of the final draft of the Whänau Ora strategy;
and the development by the HFA of the National Mäori Health strategy.

In addition to these policy and programme developments, the Ministry
of Health has participated in and facilitated a range of meetings designed
to better co-ordinate the input of health groups and related agencies to
focus on Mäori health gain. The organisations taking part include: the
newly formed Mäori Health Commission; the Mental Health
Commission; the Health and Disability Commission; Te Puni Kōkiri;
HFA; the Reference Committee of Mäori providers; and various Mäori
health professional groups.

The Ministry’s work in this KRA contributes to sector development in
key areas of government activity and service need, and reflects the
interface between policy advice and the HFA’s implementation role.
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 KRA 6: Information and Research and Development
I will support, encourage and actively facilitate the use of knowledge
and information in health and disability policy, purchasing and
provision.

In order to achieve this I will:

(a) by 31 January 1998,  identify and promote best practice across the
health and disability sectors, with an emphasis on CHEs.  The
Ministry will work closely with the Crown Company Monitoring
Advisory Unit (CCMAU) where CHEs are concerned

(b) by 30 June 1998, implement a methodology for ongoing
benchmarking of sector performance across providers and over time
(including throughput/activity levels, efficiency and health status)

(c) by 30 June 1998, implement initiatives supporting sector-wide secure
exchange of health information in the interests of New Zealanders,
health, patient care and treatment with a focus on primary care,
mental health, child health and Mäori health

i. by 30 November 1997, development of a tool to allow general
practitioners access to integrated primary and secondary care
information will be completed

 ii. by 31 March 1998, a pilot project to integrate primary and
secondary care information will be implemented

iii. by 30 July 1997, a report will be completed which summarises
the pilot phase of the Mental Health Information Project

iv. by 31 August 1997, a paper will be presented to Health Ministers
identifying implications on the health sector of the impact, cost,
and time for rolling out the Mental Health Information Project
nationally

 v. by 30 June 1998, identify and scope strategic disability support
services (DSS) information needs, design a DSS information
database, implement a pilot and timetable phased
implementation of a full DSS database system

(d) by 30 June 1998,  implement future ownership/stewardship options
for national health information resources, for example National
Health Index/Medical Warning System and National Minimum
Dataset).
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Key result area summary
The work within this key result area is carried out in the context of the
Government’s Health Information Strategy, which aims to:

• assist co-ordination across the sector in information developments

• provide information standards and data definitions which enable
electronic transfer of data between different agencies.

These mechanisms are important to encourage integrated care across
different types of providers for better health and disability outcomes.
An important focus is encouraging development in service areas
(including mental health and disability support services) which have
not historically been well served in terms of information.

In line with these objectives, and in addition to achievement of the specific
milestones in the Purchase Agreement, progress during the year has
included the following.

• The Ministry continued to co-ordinate the 17 provider-led project
groups funded through the health information initiatives part of the
Government’s Provider Development Programme.  Specific projects
include better integrated primary and secondary care,
teledermatology consulting, diabetes information, and development
of on-line access to referral and guidelines material.  The aims of the
programme include the development of technical solutions that can
be put in place directly, the establishment of mechanisms to check
which things work, and encouragement of the transfer of knowledge
between providers

• The New Zealand Health Information Service (NZHIS) developed
the ‘Health Intranet’ proposal to enable the electronic transfer of
information between all types of health and disability providers.  This
aims to enhance the ability of providers to link with the
communications infrastructure, use the National Health Index (NHI),
and improve the security of communications.  Consultation on the
proposal has been carried out with providers, the HFA and the ACC.
The detailed business case for proceeding to the pilot stage was agreed
during the year, and the project management plan has been developed
and agreed by a steering committee.
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• Rebuilding of the NHI system using updated technology was
completed.  The new system is operating well above service level
agreements with the sector.

Through the NZHIS, New Zealand was the first country in the world to
publish 1996 mortality data, and the NZHIS is currently close to
publishing provisional 1997 data on its Web site. Query Software for
the National Minimum Dataset (NMDS) was developed during the year.
This enables NMDS errors to be identified prior to publication and will
increase accuracy rates from 90 percent (on submission from Hospital
and Health Services (HHS) to 95 percent (on publication).  This will make
New Zealand a world leader in terms of quality of secondary care
information.  NMDS Query Software also enables development of real
best-practice and benchmarking across HHS and enables detailed
understanding of procedural quality.

Information, its acquisition and availability is crucial to the development
of a cost-effective health and disability service.

 KRA 7: Ministry Structure/Culture
I will continue to develop the capacity of the Ministry to operate flexibly
and effectively in the developing health sector.

In order to achieve this I will:

(a) by 30 June 1998,  identify and implement ways of enhancing the
Ministry’s contribution to the work of government and the effective
leadership and functioning of the health and disability sector

(b) by 30 June 1998, in the light of the changes to agency arrangements
and roles outlined in the Coalition Agreement and building upon
the work undertaken in 1996/1997:

 i. implement changes to Ministry structures and work processes
to promote a clear focus on activities which support the strategic
direction and core business of the Ministry

 ii. implement any ministerial decisions on the Ministry’s review
of the appropriate mode of operation and location of its current
business units.
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Key result area summary
The publication of the Strategic Business Plan, and the Minister’s
agreement with it, provided a focus to the work in this KRA. Quarterly
reporting against the plan was initiated and an annual Corporate Plan
to provide further detail on the delivery of the strategies in 1998/99 is
being developed for publication early in the next financial year.  A new
human resources strategy to support the Ministry’s leadership role was
developed, and is being implemented.

Good progress has been made in withdrawing the Ministry from
Occupational Registration Board Secretariat servicing. In the area of
Licensing, Cabinet decisions have been made arising from the consumer
safety project. Work has been completed on the transfer of a number of
Ministry functions to the HFA.

The Ministry has demonstrated significant flexibility in responding to
Government needs and is seeking to develop further its strategic capacity
in a managed fashion.

Generic quality and timeliness standards for
briefings and policy advice
The following performance measures are common to all briefings and
policy advice.

All advice to the Minister and Associate Ministers of Health will be
delivered in accordance with the agreed quality standards.  All briefings
will:

• contain a clear statement of purpose of the advice

• contain logical argument

• be factually accurate and comprehensive

• present an adequate range of options, including benefits, costs and
implications for those people affected by the option

• contain evidence of adequate consultation

• consider practical issues, including implementation, technical
feasibility, timing and consistency with other policies

• meet agreed timeframes

• meet ministerial requirements for presentation.
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Audit trails and internal peer review were used for projects recorded in
the Purchase Agreement and all other projects, to ensure that the above
requirements were met.  Policy advice with major fiscal implications
was reviewed by the Treasury and the Ministry’s Financial Accounting
Section.  Other government departments and agencies were also
consulted where appropriate and invited to comment on policy papers.
Managerial oversight was ensured for all projects, with final sign-out
by the relevant general manager or delegation holder.

 A quarterly survey will enable the Minister to provide formal feedback
on the advice provided, based on the following criteria:

• delivery of advice on the agreed number of projects

• coverage of the relevant issue

• clear statement of the purpose of the advice

• logical argument

• accuracy

• presentation of an adequate range of well-assessed policy options

• evidence of adequate consultation

• practicality

• presentation.

Ninety percent of measures will be rated as satisfactory or above by the
Minister.  Regular meetings between the Minister and senior staff and
a range of regular reports will provide     opportunities for progress and
quality of outputs to be monitored.....

Feedback on a range of aspects contributing to the quality of policy
advice using a 1 to 5 rating scale (1 = poor, 5 = excellent) was sought
from the Minister.  The Ministry’s performance was evaluated as
satisfactory or above for 92 percent of the measures.          Regular reports
to, and meetings with the Minister ensured that full consultation took
place.
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 All advice will be delivered in accordance with the timeframes agreed
between the Minister of Health and the Ministry.

All priority projects were delivered within the timeframe agreed with
the Minister.  Where deadlines were not able to be met, the prior
agreement of the Minister to an extension of the deadline had been
obtained.
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1. Health Strategic Planning and
Policy

Description
This output class involves the purchase of advice and policy analysis
with a focus on strategic issues, including the overall strategic direction
of the health and disability sector, funding for the sector, advice on the
purchasing arrangements in the health sector, and advice on the
operating environment for health and disability services. Advice is
provided on the effectiveness of sector arrangements through scanning,
forecasting and research.  A framework to develop and maintain the
selection and management of strategic projects is purchased through
this output class.  Analytical and support services are provided to the
National Advisory Committee on Health and Disability.  Strategic advice
is provided on Mäori policy for the sector, including the operating
environment for Mäori health service purchasers and providers, and
the impact of policy and legislation in relation to the Treaty of Waitangi
and Mäori health needs.

Outcomes for health to which this output class
contributes
• Purchases of health and disability services are well planned and

aligned to HFA regional populations and their needs, and services
aimed at maximising health gains are provided efficiently.

• Public health, consumer safety and care and accident regulatory
frameworks are improved so that they better protect the health and
safety of New Zealanders while minimising industry compliance
costs.

• Comprehensive and integrated care and support services, including
appropriate community-based accommodation options, maximise
the potential of individuals with mental health and disability support
needs.

• The health status for particular at-risk groups, especially Mäori, is
improved by increased responsiveness to their needs.
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Quantity, quality, timeliness and cost of health
strategic planning and policy

Quantity

300–400 (estimate based on 1995/96 and 1997/98 data) briefings will be
provided to the Minister.

The Minister was provided with 203 written briefings, and a significant
number of oral briefings.

22 key priority projects will be delivered during the financial year
contributing to the Ministry’s work in the areas of Mäori health, access
to services, funding, RHA accountability and ACC, and to the outputs
covering the overall direction of the sector.

The Ministry specified 18 key priority projects for Output Class 1 in the
Purchase Agreement with the Minister.  All of these were completed
within the timeframes agreed to by the Minister. During the year, work
on some projects was re-prioritised with the Minister’s approval to ensure
Coalition Agreement and other key issues were dealt with. Regular
reports, and meetings with the Minister, ensured that full consultation
took place.

All of the 18 key priority projects were directly related to the achievement
of the key result areas (KRAs).  The KRAs are the strategic goals for the
Ministry in support of the Government’s strategic result areas (refer to
the text below for details of these projects).

Key priority projects

• Provide a forum for fostering debate and the dissemination of
information to enhance sector and public understanding of the health
funding environment, including pressure and choices within the
constraints of a reasonable funding path. [KRA 4]

Fostering debate and disseminating information to enhance public
understanding of the health funding environment occurred in a range
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of informal and formal opportunities. The National Health Committee’s
Best of Health 3 was released in December 1997 and includes a discussion
on rationing and prioritisation.  A major media forum with key health
journalists was held in November 1997 to improve media understanding
of the health funding environment.  A number of public meetings were
held between March and June 1998, including general community
meetings in Porirua and Alexandra, five fono in South Auckland, four
presentations in medical schools and focus groups through Victoria
University’s Decision Support Centre.

• Identify and promote best practice across the health and disability
sectors, with an emphasis on CHEs.  The Ministry will work closely
with CCMAU where CHEs are concerned. [KRA 6]

The CHE best-practice project was completed on 31 January 1998.
Information on the initiatives that CHEs have identified as best practice
has been written into a directory format, which has been distributed to
all CHEs. Planning has been undertaken for a CHE Knowledge Network
within the Ministry’s Web site to encourage further information sharing.

• Develop an integrated work programme to carry forward the work
of the Steering Group including identification of those agencies most
appropriate to undertake specific items of work, and co-ordinate and
report monthly on progress. [KRA 2]

The Ministry of Health established a project team to consider and
implement the Steering Group report.  The project team then worked
with a wider team of officials including Treasury, State Services
Commission, Te Puni Kökiri, Pacific Island Affairs, Women’s Affairs,
Accident Rehabilitation & Compensation Insurance Corporation,
Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet (DPMC), CCMAU and
the Department of Labour. A work programme was developed and
agreed to by Cabinet on 7 July 1997.  At that meeting an ad hoc ministerial
committee to oversee officials’ work was established.
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• Provide advice on options for giving effect to the policy direction
with a view to obtaining Cabinet decisions by 14 October 1997.
[KRA 2]

A total of 4,950 copies of the Steering Group report were sent out, with
152 replies being received.  The Ministry prepared papers for the ad hoc
committee’s meetings in July on the form, functions and objectives of
the funder and Crown-owned providers.  A paper, including a summary
and analysis of the 152 replies was prepared, and considered by the
Cabinet Health and Social Policy Committee meeting on 13 August 1997
and then by Cabinet on 25 August 1997.

• Subject to Cabinet decisions on policy being made by mid October
1997, develop draft legislation ready for introduction to support the
implementation of the preferred options. [KRA 2]

The Ministry prepared a Cabinet paper in September 1997. The paper
set out the legislative impediments to the funder and considered whether
the legislative accountability arrangements were appropriate for a single
funder.  At the Minister’s request the Ministry prepared a further Cabinet
paper in October 1997 setting out a proposal for implementing the
changes, set out in the Coalition Agreement on Health Sections 2 & 3,
without legislation.  Crown Law advice was used as an input into the
final recommendations.  Cabinet agreed to the recommendations.  The
Transitional Health Authority was renamed the Health Funding
Authority (HFA) with effect from 1 January 1998.  This was to reflect the
completion of the structural change from the four RHAs. A revised board
for the HFA was also agreed to and appointed.

• In consultation with other agencies, develop a co-ordinated change
strategy and plans for implementing the required changes to agency
functions, roles, responsibilities and changes to policy settings and
the regulatory environment. [KRA 2]

The Ministry contributed to the Treasury/CCMAU report on CHE:
Not for Profit Status.  In early October 1997 a timetable was provided
with the process for: forwarding the Cabinet paper to implement
decisions on the Steering Group Report without legislation; changing
the name of the funder and CHEs and appointing a new board and
directors for the funder. The Health Funding Authority came into being
on 8 January 1998.
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The Ministry continues to provide input into HHS implementation issues
but this advice is led by CCMAU and Treasury.

• Lead and co-ordinate the change process, monitor and report each
quarter on any risks, including strategies for managing these.
[KRA 2]

Given the early establishment of the agencies and the minimal legislative
change, quarterly reporting on the implementation risks was not
required.

• Provide preliminary advice on options for changes to the current
regulatory regime critical for improving service continuity and health
outcomes by, for example, removing barriers to innovation and
integrated care. [KRA 3]

On 30 September 1997 a preliminary briefing was provided to the
Minister on changes to the current regulatory regime. The briefing
reported that there are options to improve the regulatory regime in
several areas in which policy advice has been provided and that further
advice is being developed on occupational regulation and Ministry
structure. The briefing recommended no legislative changes concerning
the development of integrated care.

• Develop policies and, by 30 March 1998, develop legislation to
support the implementation of changes to regulatory activity agreed
to by the Minister. [KRA 3]

The Mental Health Commission was established under its own Act
during the third quarter.  Bills are presently before the House on the
Health Occupational Registration Boards Acts Amendment and on the
Health (Blood Services) Amendment. Drafting instructions were sent to
Parliamentary Counsel during the third quarter on Intellectual Disability
(Compulsory Care), Mental Health (Compulsory Assessment and
Treatment) and Safety of Health and Disability Services Reform.

Papers are being developed for replacement legislation for the Medicines
Act 1981 and for new arrangements for approving generic medicines.
Work is also progressing on extending prescribing rights to nurses.



Page 73

• Subject to Cabinet policy decisions, by 30 November 1997, draft
legislation (departmental draft) on consumer safety. [KRA 3]

Consultation on the Consumer Safety proposal Taking Care II was
completed in August 1997 and advice was prepared for the Minister.
The Cabinet Committee on Health and Social Policy considered a
proposal to repeal the existing consumer safety facilities licensing
legislation on 3 December 1997.  The Committee sought a report back
asking for further information on ways to manage the risk to users of
privately funded residential services.  Cabinet agreed to repeal the
present consumer safety legislation and replace it with a single piece of
legislation.  Drafting instructions have been prepared and submitted to
Parliamentary Counsel Office.  The Ministry is working to implement
the Cabinet decision.

• In conjunction with the Transitional Health Authority, provide policy
advice to the Minister of Health on options for reconciling fixed
funding of the Transitional Health Authority/funder with unmet
demand for services. [KRA 4]

Advice was provided to the Minister on the proposed approach to
reconciling fixed funding with unmet need.  This is an issue facing all
OECD countries and the key strategies relate to resource allocation,
optimal financing mix and increasing public understanding/
acceptability. Options for further work were presented and the following
areas were considered most useful for further analysis: [a] the
implications of increasing the transparency of the service coverage
provided by the public sector; [b] the targeting regime; and [c] the role
and regulatory environment for private insurance.

• Provide advice to the Minister of Health on the implementation of
CHE deficit switch options. [KRA 4]

On 17 November 1997 advice was provided on a proposal to pilot a
CHE deficit switch. On 2 December 1997 further advice (with Treasury)
was tendered to Health and Treasury Ministers on two options for re-
pricing CHE services. Joint Ministers decided to proceed with the switch,
subject to a number of preconditions, including the commitment of HFA
and CHEs to the process, and the methodology for re-pricing CHE
services. Officials will report to shareholding Ministers on HFA and CHE
commitment to the process and methodology for the deficit switch. The
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draft agreement between the HFA and CHEs represented a high-level
commitment.  There were, however, a number of outstanding issues
that needed to be resolved.  These posed significant risks to the process.
An interim report to Cabinet was submitted on 27 July 1998.  A further
meeting between joint Ministers has been scheduled for 13 August to
allow central agencies to progress the outstanding issues.

• Provide advice on health funding that draws together Vote Health
and Vote CHEs for the 1998 Budget and for out-years. [KRA 4]

Advice on Vote Health was provided for the strategic phase of the 1998
Budget process. This advice included risks faced by the sector and
priorities which the Government needs to focus on over the medium
term. Presentations and background material were prepared for the
bilateral meeting held on 25 September 1997. Further material was
prepared for the Premier House Cabinet retreat held in mid-October
1997. Shareholding Ministers will report to the Cabinet Economic
Committee by early July 1998 on the appropriate baseline changes to
Vote CHEs and Vote Health.

• Provide policy advice on personal health, disability support services
and public health ring fences. [KRA 4]

Advice was provided to the Minister on the appropriation structure of
the funder.  This included consideration of the splits in funding between
personal health services, disability support services and public health
service purchasing, consideration of  regional appropriations, and the
need for an operating expense appropriation.  The Minister’s decision
was to retain the current service and regional output classes for
1998/99,  review arrangements for 1999/00 and create a separate
operational output class.

• Implement a methodology for ongoing benchmarking of sector
performance across providers and over time (including throughput/
activity levels, efficiency and health status). [KRA 6]

A comprehensive publication on health and disability output trends is
being scoped and planned for the next financial year.  This will be an
annual publication.  The first issue will contain information on health
and disability outputs up to and including the 1997/98 year.  Together
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with annual publications on health expenditure trends and health
outcomes, this will provide valuable information with which to monitor
the performance of the health sector over time.  An annual publication
on hospital throughput compares the performance of publicly funded
providers.  Benchmarking of providers is also being conducted elsewhere
in the health sector and these are being investigated.

• Provide advice on the steps and funding needed to achieve the
Government’s objectives on waiting times. [KRA 4]

Through the use of the $235 million Waiting Times Fund (WTF), the
Ministry has supported the HFA and providers in introducing booking
systems and clinical priority assessment criteria for elective services.
The WTF is a four-year fund that lasts from 1 July 1996 to 30 June 2000.
The administrative functions of this fund were transferred to the HFA
on 1 January 1998. At the time of transfer, the Crown had contracted
over $182 million from the WTF.  During the year the Ministry
completed five out of a total of eight data-matching exercises, which
involved matching invoices against the National Minimum Dataset to
ensure that WTF-contracted services have been delivered.  The Ministry
also began work on the ninth round of data matching.

The Ministry has commenced preliminary work on a WTF
implementation review.  This will review the performance of the HFA
against a variety of selected WTF contracts around the country and will
be completed in 1998/99.

Cabinet has approved an additional $253 million over three years for
elective services. The  Ministry and the HFA are currently working on
the criteria for using this money and the reporting requirements.
During the fourth quarter of 1997/98 the Ministry established the
Elective Surgery Policy Unit to work with the HFA, providers and
clinicians to help ensure that the policy settings around elective surgery
are robust and translated into practice.



Page 76

• Evaluate the strategies being implemented by the Transitional Health
Authority in terms of their impact on the strategic directions for the
accelerated health improvement for Mäori by the health and disability
sector. [KRA 5]

The Ministry has completed the review of the HFA strategic plans for
Mäori health and continues to work with the HFA on the issues related
to, and the recommendations of, the Ministry’s Review of RHA Strategies
for Improving Mäori Health Status.

The Ministry has reviewed the HFA’s National Strategic Plan for Mäori
Health and a report  prepared for the Minister.

Issues identified for incorporation into the 1998/99 accountability
documents included: the development of specific reporting requirements
for the ongoing implementation of the Mäori Provider Development
Scheme; resource distribution amongst health providers and the
development of an internal Mäori Health Policy.  Performance measures
have been developed for each of these issues and incorporated into the
1998/99 Funding Agreement.

• Promote the accelerated development of the Mäori health workforce
and competent Mäori service providers and report quarterly on
progress. [KRA 5]

The joint development of a National Strategic Plan for the
implementation of the Mäori Provider Development Scheme (MPDS)
by the HFA and the Ministry’s Māori Health Branch was presented to
the Minister for approval.  An amendment to the 1997/98 Funding
Agreement between the Minister and the HFA was developed and signed
on 10 December 1997. Implementation of the Mäori Provider
Development Scheme for 1997/98 has been in line with the requirements
of the amendment to the Funding Agreement.

A report presented the Mäori provider and workforce issues that had
been identified with the HFA throughout the 1997/98 year.  Issues
included the Vision 2020 proposal from the University of Auckland and
the continual support for Mäori provider development.

Significant input was undertaken by the Ministry along with Ngä Ringa
Whakahaere o Aotearoa, the national body of Mäori traditional healers,
in the development of standards and operating guidelines for Mäori
traditional healers. This work will be finalised in the 1998/99 year.
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Output Class 1: Health Strategic Planning and Policy

Actual year Budget year Actual year
ended  ended  ended

 30/6/98  30/6/98 30/6/97
($000)  ($000)  ($000)

Crown Revenue 12,953 12,953 11,265

Third Party Revenue 169 194 203

Total Revenue 13,122 13,147 11,468

Total Expenditure 13,111 13,147 11,455

Net Surplus/(Deficit) 11 0 13

Explanation of major variations
Financial performance

The appropriation for this output class was increased by $1,078,000 in
the Supplementary Estimates. This represents an increase in resource
allocations offset by a transfer of the Mental Health Commission activity
from 1 April 1998 to a new statutory body.
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2. Health and Disability Services
Policy

Description
This output class involves the purchase of policy advice on the
specification of personal health, mental health and disability support
services, reviews of the quality, relevance and effectiveness of these
services, and consumer protection policy and therapeutics policy.

Outcomes for health to which this output class
contributes
• Purchases of health and disability services are well planned and

aligned to HFA populations and their needs, and services aimed at
maximising health gains are provided efficiently.

• Public health, consumer safety and care and accident regulatory
frameworks are improved so that they better protect the health and
safety of New Zealanders while minimising industry compliance
costs.

• Comprehensive and integrated care and support services, including
appropriate community-based accommodation options, maximise the
potential of individuals with mental health and disability support
needs.

• The health status for particular at-risk groups, especially Mäori, is
improved by increased responsiveness to their needs.

Quantity, quality, timeliness and cost of health and
disability services policy

Quantity

800–900 (estimate based on 1995/96 and 1996/97 data) briefings will be
provided to the Minister .

The Minister was provided with 611 written briefings, and a significant
number of oral briefings.
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14 key priority projects will be delivered during the financial year
contributing to the Ministry’s work in the mental health, disability
support services and access to services areas, and to the outputs covering
personal health, disability support services, mental health, and policy
on personal health legislation.

The Ministry specified 14 key priority projects for Output Class 2 in the
Purchase Agreement with the Minister. Of these 12 were completed
within the timeframes agreed to by the Minister and two were
substantially completed.  Where projects are substantially completed
work is ongoing into the 1998/99 financial year.  During the year, projects
were re-prioritised with the Minister’s approval to ensure Coalition
Agreement and other key issues were dealt with. Regular reports, and
meetings with the Minister, ensured that full consultation took place.

Of the 14 key priority projects, four projects were directly related to the
achievement of the key result areas (KRAs). The KRAs are the strategic
goals for the Ministry in support of the Government’s strategic result
areas (refer to the text below for details of these projects).

Key priority projects

• Subject to Cabinet policy decisions by 30 August 1997, draft legislation
for people with intellectual disability. [KRA 3]

On 24 November 1997 Cabinet agreed to the development of new
compulsory care legislation to facilitate the management of certain
individuals with intellectual disabilities. On 9 March 1998 Cabinet agreed
to the legislative and administrative framework. Drafting instructions
were     sent to Parliamentary Counsel on 31 March 1998.  There has been
delay in Parliamentary Counsel drafting the Bill due to higher priority
legislation taking precedence. Drafting is expected to commence in July
1998.

• Work with the Transitional Health Authority/HFA to identify and
scope strategic Disability Support Services (DSS) information needs,
design a DSS information database (utilising current initiatives) and
implement a pilot and timetable phased implementation of a full
database system. [KRA 6]
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The Ministry has scoped the project with the HFA and the HFA will
take the lead. Work is progressing on contracting the work to develop a
set of data requirements which will meet key stakeholder needs.

• Have led the accelerated development and improvement of mental
health services by:

i. ensuring Government’s intentions for the Mason dollar
expenditure are met

ii. working closely with the Transitional Health Authority and the
Mental Health Commission to ensure focus in the sector on
increasing and improving services for Mäori, children and young
people

iii. clarifying the impact of acute demand on the sector’s capacity to
deliver services

iv. working closely with the Transitional Health Authority, Mental
Health Commission, and Ministry of Education to develop a
National Mental Health Workforce Strategy. [KRA 5]

The Ministry continues to monitor the divisions of the HFA on Mason
expenditure.  The Ministry has supported the HFA and providers in
introducing booking systems and clinical priority assessment criteria
for elective services.  During the year the Ministry completed five out of
a total of eight data-matching exercises, which involved matching
invoices against the National Minimum Dataset to ensure that WTF-
contracted services have been delivered.  The Ministry also began work
on the ninth round of data matching. The Ministry has commenced
preliminary work on a WTF implementation review.  This will review
the performance of the HFA against a variety of selected WTF contracts
around the country, and will be completed in 1998/99.  During the fourth
quarter of 1997/98 the Ministry established the Elective Surgery Policy
Unit to work with the HFA, providers and clinicians to help ensure that
the policy settings around elective surgery are robust and translated
into practice.

The Ministry continues to host quarterly meetings which bring together
providers of child and youth mental health services and HFA personnel
to discuss key issues regarding the provision of services to children and
young people.  These meetings allow the sharing of information and
methods of service provision, and discussion of best-practice issues.
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Spending of Mason money is being monitored to ensure that children
and young people continue to be a priority in HFA purchasing.  The
benchmarks for service provision for children and young people are
being re-calculated by the Mental Health Commission in consultation
with the Ministry.

The Ministry continues to work closely with the HFA, Mental Health
Commission (MHC), and the Ministry of Education to develop a National
Mental Health Workforce Strategy. The Ministry is represented on the
Mental Health Support Worker advisory group overseeing the
accreditation and evaluation process of the Unit Standards for
Community Mental Health Support Workers.   In developing its five-
year plan, the Health Funding Authority has taken into account the
results of the July 1997 Acuity Review. Plans include greater emphasis
on quality improvements in the acute admission areas, as well as
purchasing further community placements and crisis respite.   The
blueprint for specialist child and youth mental health services in New
Zealand was published in June 1998 as New Futures: A strategic
framework for specialist mental health services for children and young
people in New Zealand.

• Implement initiatives supporting sector-wide secure exchange of
health information in the interests of New Zealanders, health, patient
care and treatment with a focus on primary care, mental health, child
health and Mäori health:

i. completion of a report which summarises the pilot phase of the
Mental Health Information Project

ii. the presentation of a paper to Health Ministers identifying
implications on the Health Sector of the impact, cost, and time for
rolling out the Mental Health Information Project nationally

iii. identification and scoping of strategic DSS information needs, the
design of a DSS information database, implementation of a pilot
and timetable phased implementation of a full DSS database
system.
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Scoping of the Mental Health Information Project has previously been
achieved and the implementation phase is under way. The system will
enable a broader range of mental health information (including
information on non-inpatient activity) to be brought together than has
previously been possible in New Zealand.   This information will be of
use to the providers themselves, to the HFA and to the Mental Health
Commission.  The Ministry has scoped the DSS information needs with
the HFA, and the HFA will lead this project.  Work is progressing on
contracting the work to develop a set of data requirements which meets
key stakeholders’ needs.

Output Class 2: Health and Disability Services

Actual year Budget year Actual year
ended  ended  ended

30/6/98  30/6/98 30/6/97
($000)  ($000)  ($000)

Crown Revenue 7,844 7,844 7,412

Third Party Revenue 10 0 7

Total Revenue 7,854 7,844 7,419

Total Expenditure 7,763 7,844 7,302

Net Surplus/(Deficit) 91 0 117
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3. Public Health Policy

Description
This output class involves the purchase of policy advice on matters
relating to public health.  It includes monitoring, analysing and reporting
on the state of the public health, including identifying public health
needs, and advising on matters relating to public health, including
personal health and regulation as they relate to public health.

In addition to the work on the key priority projects linked to the
Ministry’s key result areas (KRAs) Output Class 3 included work on a
range of other key priority projects. These included:

• providing advice on options for reducing levels of harmful
constituents in tobacco products

• developing policy on proposed regulations to strengthen health
warnings and consumer information on tobacco packaging

• providing advice, as required, on new tobacco control initiatives,
including tobacco taxation and new legislation

• working with the Transitional Health Authority (THA)/HFA  on the
implementation and ongoing evaluation of the hepatitis B pilot
screening and surveillance programme

• reviewing all child health programmes (together with the THA/HFA)
currently in operation with a view to building on those that deliver
the best health gain and improved family function, thus reducing
risk to children

• working with the THA/HFA to provide advice on an information
system to improve the uptake of preventative child health services
and to provide information for monitoring  and evaluation purposes

• working with the THA/HFA to provide advice to support the
development of family team pilots as set out in the Coalition
Agreement.
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Outcomes for health to which this output class
contributes

• Purchases of health and disability services are well planned and
aligned to RHA/HFA populations and their needs, and services
aimed at maximising health gains are provided efficiently.

• Public health, consumer safety and care and accident regulatory
frameworks are improved so that they better protect the health and
safety of New Zealanders while minimising industry compliance
costs.

• The health status for particular at-risk groups, especially Mäori, is
improved by increased responsiveness to their needs.

Quantity, quality, timeliness and cost of public health
policy

Quantity

200–300 (estimate based on 1995/96 and 1996/97 data) briefings will be
provided to the Minister.

The Minister was provided with 350 written briefings, and a significant
number of oral briefings.

10 key priority projects and six core business projects will be delivered
during the financial year contributing to the Mäori health and public
health areas, and to the outputs covering public health intelligence, public
health policy, Māori public health policy, and prevention policy.

The Ministry specified 10 key priority projects for Output Class 3 in the
Purchase Agreement with the Minister. Of these nine were completed
within the timeframes agreed to by the Minister and one project, the
review of regulations under the Health Act 1986, was re-cast and carried
forward into 1998/99 as a part of a major review of public health
legislation. During the year, work was re-prioritised with the Minister’s
approval to ensure Coalition Agreement and other key issues were dealt
with. Regular reports, and meetings with the Minister ensured that full
consultation took place.
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Of the 10 key priority projects, two were directly related to the
achievement of the key result areas (KRAs). The KRAs are the strategic
goals for the Ministry in support of the Government’s strategic result
areas (refer to the text below for details of these projects).

Key priority projects

• Having regard to Cabinet decision (97) M 6/2, develop policy on
effective health sector interventions for families at risk and continue
to contribute to the development of the Government’s intersectoral
Strengthening Families strategy. [KRA 5]

The Government’s Strengthening Families strategy focuses on improving
health and other outcomes for high-risk families. The Ministry has
worked closely with the HFA and other agencies in supporting the
extension of the local co-ordination initiative, focused on better co-
ordination of health, education and welfare services for high-risk families
at the community level.  The Ministry’s CEO meets regularly with the
Director-General of Social Welfare and the Secretary for Education to
oversee the development of this initiative.  Ministry representatives have
also provided health sector input to the intersectoral working groups
which developed the policy proposals presented to Cabinet in December
1997.  The Ministry led the project, as agreed by Cabinet on 23 September
1997, on developing outcome measures and targets for improving health
outcomes for children and co-ordinated the preparation of the baseline
report in December.  In addition, the Ministry has taken responsibility
for project co-ordination for the purchase of the Family Start prototype
and extension of Early Start Funding.  It has also participated in the
scoping of the project concerning further rationalisation of social services
and provided input to the work on the Code of Social and Family
Responsibility.

• In close consultation with the Transitional Health Authority, develop
budget proposals for child health and have consulted on and
completed for implementation by the Transitional Health Authority
from 1 July 1998 a national strategy for improvement in child health
with a particular focus on Mäori children, Pacific Island children and
children with special needs, which also identifies the contribution of
the health sector to the inter-sectoral Strengthening Families strategy.
[KRA 5]
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Significant progress has been made on a number of initiatives in the
area of child health, including the milestones on the Child Health strategy
and Strengthening Families.  Budget proposals for child health have
resulted in the establishment of pilot Family Health Teams and the health
sector‘s contribution to Family Start prototypes.

Child Health strategy

In August 1997 Cabinet agreed to the development of a Child Health
strategy to encompass all child health services, with a particular focus
on Māori children, Pacific children, children with high health needs and
children from families at risk.

Reviews of current child health programmes with a focus on preventive
programmes, and child health status, were both completed in draft form
in December 1998, as inputs to the  strategy.  A consultation document,
Towards a National Child Health Strategy, was developed with the
assistance of the Child Health Advisory Committee, the HFA, and other
government departments, and was released in January 1998.  The
consultation document sought feedback from the sector, other agencies
and the public on six key strategies to promote health gain for children:
a focus on prevention and health promotion, improved co-ordination, a
child health information system, workforce development, child health
research, and leadership in child health. In addition, it identified the
key issues for the priority groups and the role of the health sector in
implementing the Government’s Strengthening Families strategy.
Cabinet approved the release of the Child Health strategy in May 1998.
The programme review and Child Health strategy were published in
June 1998.

Free GP visits for under-sixes

The Ministry of Health kept informal contact with HFA divisions about
the extent of coverage of the free GP visits and pharmaceuticals for under-
sixes, and attended several joint meetings.  These have included plans
for HFA evaluation of the policy and its outcomes.

Near universal access to free services has not yet been achieved in
Wellington and Auckland, and Invercargill does not have free services
available in the weekends.  The HFA is continuing to explore solutions
to this situation, although progress has tended to be slow, due to the
need to introduce an incentive for the free provision of services through
other developments such as capitation contracts.
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Output Class 3: Public Health Policy

Actual year Budget year Actual year
ended  ended  ended

30/6/98  30/6/98 30/6/97
($000)  ($000)  ($000)

Crown Revenue 5,648 5,648 6,327

Third Party Revenue 0 0 0

Total Revenue 5,648 5,648 6,327

Total Expenditure 5,638 5,648 6,299

Net Surplus/(Deficit) 10 0 28
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4. Health Funding Management

Description
This output class purchases the negotiation, management and
monitoring of the Crown‘s funding of the purchasing agency (the
Transitional Health Authority) and the negotiation and monitoring of
contracts with specific advisory and sector support service providers.
The Ministry of Health is required to negotiate a funding agreement
with the Transitional Health Authority, which then purchases an agreed
range of health and disability support services for New Zealand people
by means of contracts with service providers (refer to RHA/THA Output
classes in part C2 of Vote Health).

The Ministry of Health is also required to monitor and review
Transitional Health Authority performance in relation to agreed
contractual obligations.

Outcomes for health to which this output class
contributes
• Purchases of health and disability services are well planned and

aligned to HFA regional populations and their needs, and services
aimed at maximising health gains are provided efficiently.

• Comprehensive and integrated care and support services, including
appropriate community-based accommodation options, maximise
the potential of individuals with mental health and disability
support needs.

• The health status for particular at-risk groups, especially Mäori, is
improved by increased responsiveness to their needs.
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Quantity, quality, timeliness and cost of health
funding management

Quantity

120–300 (estimate based on 1995/96 and 1996/97 data) briefings will be
provided to the Minister.

The Minister was provided with 210 written briefings, and a significant
number of oral briefings.

Three key priority projects will be delivered during the financial year
that specifically contribute to the Ministry’s work in the outputs covering
contract negotiation and contract monitoring.

The Ministry specified three key priority projects for Output Class 4 in
the Purchase Agreement with the Minister. All of these key priority
projects were completed. Regular reports, and meetings with the
Minister, ensured that full consultation took place.  All of the three key
priority projects related to the achievement of the key result areas (KRAs).
The KRAs are the strategic goals for the Ministry in support of the
Government’s strategic result areas (refer to the text below for details of
these projects).

Key priority projects

• Agree on protocols with the Executive Chairman and/or the Chief
Executive of the Transitional Health Authority relating to the roles
and responsibilities of the Ministry and the Transitional Health
Authority/single national funding agency as defined by the
Government, and any intra-year transfers. [KRA 1]

The Ministry has agreed protocols with the Chief Executive of the HFA
relating to the roles and responsibilities of the Ministry and the THA/
HFA.  This milestone project has been completed.
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• In consultation with the Transitional Health Authority, develop and
implement strategies to manage the risks associated with the
transition to a single national funding agency. [KRA 1]

A briefing paper outlining the strategies in place to manage risks
associated with the transition to a single national funding agency was
forwarded to the Minister on 30 September 1997.

• Report quarterly on progress of the Transitional Health Authority in
implementing the transition to a single national funding agency
including management of risks. [KRA 1]

Quarterly reports on the progress of the Transitional Health Authority
in implementing their transition to a single national funding agency,
including management of risk, have been forwarded to the Minister.
Risks relating to the transition have been discussed with the Minister.

Output Class 4: Health Funding Management

Actual year Budget year Actual year
ended  ended  ended

30/6/98  30/6/98 30/6/97
($000)  ($000)  ($000)

Crown Revenue 2,897 2,897 2,346

Third Party Revenue 0 10 0

Total Revenue 2,897 2,907 2,346

Total Expenditure 2,887 2,907 2,337

Net Surplus/(Deficit) 10 0 9
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5. Health Regulation and Protection

Description
This output class purchases the administration and enforcement of
legislation, particularly relating to the protection of the public from
malpractice, unsafe products, procedures or services, in order to provide
assurance of public safety.  Work purchased under this output class falls
into six main categories:  standard setting, licensing, monitoring and
enforcement, national co-ordination, regulatory technical advice, and
appointments to various councils, boards, tribunals and committees.  This
is delivered through five outputs:  radiation protection services,
regulation of therapeutic products, licensing, the administration of
personal health legislation, and the administration of public health
legislation.

Outcomes for health to which this output class
contributes
• Purchases of health and disability services are well planned, aligned

to RHA populations and their needs, and services aimed at
maximising health gains are provided efficiently.

• Public health, consumer safety and care and accident regulatory
frameworks are improved so that they better protect the health and
safety of New Zealanders while minimising industry compliance
costs.

• The health status for particular at-risk groups, especially Mäori, is
improved by increased responsiveness to their needs.

Quantity, quality, timeliness and cost of health
regulation and protection

Quantity

120–300 (estimate based on 1995/96 and 1996/97 data) briefings will be
provided to the Minister.
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The Minister was provided with 119 written briefings, and a significant
number of oral briefings.

Standard setting

The Ministry provides standards, guidelines and codes of practice in
the fields of radiation protection, food, medicines and public health
standards.  This work includes the review and development of
legislation, and ongoing work to harmonise New Zealand’s food and
therapeutic standards with those of Australia.

The quantity, quality and timeliness performance measures for theThe quantity, quality and timeliness performance measures for theThe quantity, quality and timeliness performance measures for theThe quantity, quality and timeliness performance measures for theThe quantity, quality and timeliness performance measures for the
following activities were achieved unless otherwise noted:following activities were achieved unless otherwise noted:following activities were achieved unless otherwise noted:following activities were achieved unless otherwise noted:following activities were achieved unless otherwise noted:

Continuation of the ongoing and cyclical review of codes of practice
and by 30 June 1998 a review of National Radiation Laboratory codes of
practice for: safe practice for the use of x-rays in dental diagnosis; safe
practice for the use of x-rays in vetinerary diagnosis and for the treatment
of cats for thyroid disorders with iodine, and produce one new code of
practice.

Classification of medicines and the processing of applications under the
Medicines Act 1981 to market new and changed medicines and
applications to trial new medicines. A revised system for processing
new and changed medicines, aimed at reducing evaluation times to
below nine months, will be implemented, following consultation with
the industry by 30 June 1998. One hundred percent of changed medicines
notifications (estimated to be 1,100) will be responded to within 45 days.
There will be at least one amendment of the medicine classification
schedules before 30 June 1998.

Responses to 63 (4.2%) of the 1,493 changed medicine notifications did
not meet the timeliness performance standard.

Maintenance of an effective food standards setting system in New
Zealand, which includes working with the Australia New Zealand Food
Authority (ANZFA) to introduce a Joint Food Standards Code by the
year 2000, monitoring ANZFA performance, and developing New
Zealand standards outside the joint system, including minimum residue
limits (pesticides, herbicides, animal residues).
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Licensing

The Ministry provides licensing to ensure the safe use of irradiating
equipment and to license radioactive materials, old people’s homes, CHE
and privately owned hospitals, and medicines. (Licensing of food
premises is undertaken by local authorities and toxic substance licensing
by public health units in CHEs).

The following quantity, quality and timeliness performance measuresThe following quantity, quality and timeliness performance measuresThe following quantity, quality and timeliness performance measuresThe following quantity, quality and timeliness performance measuresThe following quantity, quality and timeliness performance measures
were achieved unless otherwise noted.were achieved unless otherwise noted.were achieved unless otherwise noted.were achieved unless otherwise noted.were achieved unless otherwise noted.

Licensing operators of irradiating equipment and radioactive materials
under the Radiation Protection Act 1965: Re-licensing action, for not less
than 95 percent of the approximate 2,000 licensees, is completed within
60 days of a renewal notice being issued.

Licensing old people’s homes under the Old Peoples’ Homes Regulations
1987 and the Health Act 1956; and licensing of hospitals under the
Hospitals Act 1957. Plan approval and final approval are completed for
an estimated 25 new old peoples’ homes and an estimated 12 new
hospital premises, with not less than 95 percent completed within 15
working days of application.

Process the re-licensing of old peoples homes under the Old Peoples’
Homes Regulations 1987 and the continuation of licence for hospitals
under the Hospitals Act 1957; re-licensing of an estimated 800 old
people’s homes and hospitals is completed for 90 percent of premises
within 30 working days of the due date and continuation of licence for
an estimated 250 privately operated hospitals and 118 CHE operated
hospitals is completed for 95 percent of premises within 30 working
days of the due date.

Approvals of variations of licences (transfer of licences, change of
managers and structural alterations and additions) for old people’s
homes and hospitals under the Old Peoples’ Homes Regulations 1987
and the Health Act 1956, and the Hospitals Act 1957:  95 percent of an
estimated 600 assessments are completed within 15 working days of
receipt of application and licences are issued in accordance with statutory
requirements.
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Registration of new homes for people with disabilities: Plan approval
and final approval are completed for not less than 95 percent of homes
for people with disabilities within 15 working days of application.

A     total of 123 final approvals to register homes for people with disabilities
were processed.  Of these, 102 fell outside the 15 working days timeframe
due to the transition of this function from a private provider to the
Ministry of Health. Delays in approval occurred because of the provision
of inaccurate documentation to the Ministry, requiring double checks
and reprocessing.

Registration of homes for people with disabilities: Re-registration is
completed for 90 percent of the homes within 30 days of the agreed time

Licensing of disinterrments under the Burial and Cremations Act 1964:
An estimated 45 disinterrment applications are responded to within three
working days of receipt.

Implementation of the Food Act 1981, as amended in 1996, including:
facilitating a nationally consistent approach to food safety, working with
the territorial local authorities, MAF, the food industry and the
ANZFA; approving food safety programmes and granting exemptions
from Food Hygiene Regulations; maintaining a register of exemptions;
facilitating the development of codes of practice for food safety
programmes; approving food safety programme auditors and
maintaining a register;  maintaining a register of food complaints; and
maintaining the Food Manual, with the criteria for regulatory action.

Quality

The Minister expects that licences will be issued in accordance with
statutory requirements and in accordance with codes of practice where
these apply.

Evaluations of licensing applications were peer reviewed in order to
ensure compliance with statutory requirements and that they were in
accordance with published guidelines.
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Monitoring and enforcement

The Ministry provides monitoring and enforcement of legislation
including the prosecution of offenders where this is justified by evidence.

The following quantity, quality and timeliness performance measuresThe following quantity, quality and timeliness performance measuresThe following quantity, quality and timeliness performance measuresThe following quantity, quality and timeliness performance measuresThe following quantity, quality and timeliness performance measures
were achieved unless otherwise noted.were achieved unless otherwise noted.were achieved unless otherwise noted.were achieved unless otherwise noted.were achieved unless otherwise noted.

Inspections of irradiating equipment and radioactive materials carried
out in accordance with the relevant codes and established international
procedures:  equipment and practices will be inspected within a one-to-
five-year period according to the degree of risk associated with licence
categories, with an evaluation report provided to each licensee within
six weeks.

Monitoring of radiation doses received by users of irradiating equipment
and radioactive materials: A monitoring service will be made available
to all persons who are occupationally exposed to radiation about 3,000 a
year.

Monitoring of radiation doses received by patients in medical diagnostic
procedures: a sufficient number of measurements are taken (estimated
1,150 doses) including radiographic postal dosimetric and fluoroscopic
examinations which will be made annually to assess trends in doses
and to monitor radiology services.

As at 30 June 1998 845 dose estimates have been reported.  Although
less than the estimated number (1,150) the measurements taken were
sufficient to provide the data necessary to monitor radiology services
and allow trends in doses to be assessed.

Calibration of dosimeters used to measure doses received by patients in
medical radiation treatments: National Radiation Laboratory secondary
standard dosimeters are calibrated twice yearly against the primary
standards, and inter-comparisons are made with hospital radiotherapy
dosimeters annually.
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Calibration of NRL secondary dosimeters has been completed.  Hospital
dosimeter inter-comparisons are now carried out bi-annually.  In
1997/98 two of six hospitals were completed. In the last two years all
have been done.

Monitoring levels of environmental radioactivity and certification of the
radioactive content of food: a full sample collection (including air, rain,
water, food and milk) and analysis will be implemented and its results
reported in the annual environmental radioactivity report and the five
yearly review report.

Inspection and investigation of complaints about products, adverse
reaction monitoring, and factual information are made available to the
Minister and is published: activities are carried out according to
established procedures and published material is peer reviewed.

Auditing premises and issuing licences under the Medicines Act and
the Misuse of Drugs Act 1975 in accordance with statutory requirements:
licences to be processed within 30 days of receipt; an estimated 700
applications under the Medicines Act and 500 applications under the
Misuse of Drugs Act; audits to be carried out according to established
procedures.

Monitoring of prescription and practitioners’ supply orders for controlled
drugs, and restricting the supply of controlled drugs to prolonged users:
the issue of restriction notices is reviewed annually for compliance with
the legislation. Approximately 650 orders are in place at any time.

Assurance checks of privately operated hospitals and old people’s homes,
ranging from full inspections to a request for a written assurance of
compliance, are undertaken according to the level of risk associated with
the service:  assurance checks of 100 percent of privately operated
hospitals and old people’s homes;  full inspections of 40 percent of old
people’s homes and  privately operated hospitals with a full inspection
of each premises occurring at least once every three years.



Page 97

Assurance checks of homes for people with disabilities are undertaken
according to the level of risk associated with the service with a full
inspection of each premises occurring at least once every three years.

Complaints referred back from the Health and Disability Commissioner:
An estimated 60 complaints investigated with 80 percent processed
within 40 working days.

Administration of public health legislation relating to the identification
and control of communicable diseases,  including advice on
implementation and interpretation of Acts and Regulations including:
Health Act 1956; Health Infectious and Notifiable Disease Regulations
1966; Needle and Syringe Regulations 1987; VD Regulations 1982;
International Health Regulations 1969; Health (Quarantine) Regulations
1983;  Tuberculosis Act 1948 and the Tuberculosis Regulations 1951.

Administration of public (environmental) health legislation, including
advice on implementation and interpretation of Acts and Regulations
including: Burial and Cremation Act 1964;  Health Act 1956;  Plumbers,
Gasfitters and Drainlayers Act 1976; Toxic Substances Act 1979; Anthrax
Prevention Regulations 1987; Asbestos Regulations 1983; Camping
Ground Regulations 1985; Cremation Regulations 1973;  Electroplating
Regulations 1950;  Environmental Health Officers Qualifications
Regulations 1993;  Fumigation Regulations 1967;  Health (Burial)
Regulations 1967;  Health (Hairdressers) Regulations 1980; Health
(Quarantine) Regulations 1983;  Health (Registration of Premises)
Regulations 1966; Housing Improvement Regulations 1947;  Lead Process
Regulations 1950;  Noxious Substances Regulations 1954;  Plastic
Wrapping Regulations 1979;  Spray Coating Regulations 1962;  Toxic
Substances Regulations 1983;  and the Water Supply Protection
Regulations 1961.

Investigate alleged breaches of the Smokefree Environments Act 1990:
An estimated 80 alleged breaches are investigated (this includes carrying
out the controlled purchase operations, interviewing individuals,
compiling  files with evidence, taking statements,  review by Ministry
solicitors to ensure the evidence is sufficient, and a decision on whether
to prosecute and refer to Crown Solicitor), within 60 working days of
receipt.
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Action, including public warnings and seizures directed by the Director-
General, where contamination of food or a public health threat is
identified under the Food Act 1981:  20–30 recalls of food products
anticipated.

Quality

The Minister of Health expects that inspections carried out, including
provision of reports to monitored organisations are in accordance with
the relevant codes of practice, legislation, regulation and established
procedures.

Priority for selection of licensees for monitoring is based upon their
previous compliance record and the degree of risk associated with non-
compliance.  Monitoring and inspections were carried out in accordance
with appropriate protocols, understandings, regulation and legislation.

National Co-ordination

The Ministry provides activities to co-ordinate food safety, public health
regulatory services and health aspects of civil defence nationally.  This
includes liaison with designated officers in CHEs and statutory officers
in central government agencies and regional and local government to
ensure that legislation is administered appropriately and consistently.
Suitably qualified statutory officers are designated by the Director-
General of Health for the discharge of public health regulatory services.

The quantity, quality, and timeliness performance measures for theThe quantity, quality, and timeliness performance measures for theThe quantity, quality, and timeliness performance measures for theThe quantity, quality, and timeliness performance measures for theThe quantity, quality, and timeliness performance measures for the
following activities were achieved:following activities were achieved:following activities were achieved:following activities were achieved:following activities were achieved:

Ensure the national co-ordination of public health regulatory activities
and the consistent interpretation and enforcement of legislation: By 30
June 1998 training in enforcement for designated officers is undertaken;
at least two meetings with designated officers are held in 1997/98, and
at least two issues of a newsletter are published.
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Identify requirements for the purchase of national science services for
the monitoring and surveillance of environmental health, communicable
disease, food safety, food standards and other health risks; national
science purchase requirements are identified by 28 February 1998.

Regulatory technical advice

The Ministry provides technical advice for the public, government, and
international agencies on health regulation and protection issues such
as environmental health, smokefree environments, communicable
disease control, food quality and safety, the safety of medicines and
medical devices, toxic substances, health aspects of civil defence, and
protection and exposure guidance for non-ionising radiations.   This
advice has resulted in co-development and implementation of a number
of risk-management strategies such as those related to meningococcal
disease, the measles epidemic, genetically modified foods and dengue
fever.

The quantity, quality, and timeliness performance measures for theThe quantity, quality, and timeliness performance measures for theThe quantity, quality, and timeliness performance measures for theThe quantity, quality, and timeliness performance measures for theThe quantity, quality, and timeliness performance measures for the
following activities were achieved:following activities were achieved:following activities were achieved:following activities were achieved:following activities were achieved:

Provide technical advice to the Minister, the public, health practitioners,
government agencies, industry organisations, and international agencies
on health regulation and protection issues such as environmental health,
communicable disease control, civil defence, smokefree environments,
food quality and safety, and toxic substances. All information is peer
reviewed and 80 percent of all written enquiries are replied to within 15
working days of receipt.

Make technical advice available as appropriate, relating to radiation
protection and the safety of ionising and non-ionising radiations, and
radioactive materials.

Council board, tribunal, and committee appointments

The Ministry provides administrative services associated with the
appointment of members to a variety of councils, boards, tribunals and
committees established pursuant to the relevant legislation administered
by the Ministry.



Page 100

The quantity, quality and timeliness performance measures for theThe quantity, quality and timeliness performance measures for theThe quantity, quality and timeliness performance measures for theThe quantity, quality and timeliness performance measures for theThe quantity, quality and timeliness performance measures for the
following activities were achieved unless otherwise stated:following activities were achieved unless otherwise stated:following activities were achieved unless otherwise stated:following activities were achieved unless otherwise stated:following activities were achieved unless otherwise stated:

Appointments to the occupational registration bodies established under
the Medical Practitioners Act 1995, the Psychologists Act 1981, the
Optometrists and Dispensing Opticians Act 1976, the Physiotherapists
Act 1949, the Pharmacy Act 1970, the Chiropractors Act 1982,  the Dental
Act 1988, the Occupational Therapy Act 1949, the Dietitians Act 1950,
the Nurses Act 1977, the Medical Auxiliaries Act 1966, and the Plumbers,
Gasfitters and Drainlayers Act 1976 to be made before the expiry of the
sitting members‘ term of office;  in the case of resignations before the
expiry of the term of office, the appointment is to be made within three
months of the resignation.

Provide service for the National Ethics Committee on Assisted Human
Reproduction and the National Advisory Committee on Health and
Disability Services in accordance with the wishes of the committees’
chairpersons.

Administer the Maternal Mortality Research Act 1966: Appointments
to the Maternal Deaths Assessment Committee to be made before the
expiry of the sitting member’s term of office;  in the case of resignations
before the expiry of the term of office, the appointment is to be made
within three months of the resignation and the Maternal Deaths
Assessment Committee is to be serviced in accordance with the
requirements of the chairperson.
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Output Class 5: Health Regulation and Protection

Actual year Budget year Actual year
ended  ended  ended

30/6/98  30/6/98 30/6/97
($000)  ($000)  ($000)

Crown Revenue 10,995 10,995 12,886

Third Party Revenue 3,236 3,529 3,010

Total Revenue 14,231 14,524 15,896

Total Expenditure 14,230 14,524 15,932

Net Surplus/(Deficit) 1 0 (36)

Explanation of Major Variations
Financial performance

The appropriation for this output class was decreased by $1,726,000 in
the Supplementary Estimates. This represents a transfer to Vote
Biosecurity offset by forecasted increase in third-party revenue from
medicine evaluations.
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6. Occupational Registration

Description
This output class involves the servicing and administration of the
following health occupational registering bodies:

• Occupational Therapy Board

• Dietitians Board

• Medical Radiation Technologists Board

• Psychologists Board

• Chiropractic Board

• Physiotherapy Board

• Podiatrists Board

• Opticians Board

• Medical Laboratory Technologists Board.

These boards have been established by statute to ensure that members
of each profession attain appropriate qualifications and skills before they
are admitted to the public register held by each board.  The boards also
administer a professional disciplinary system which allows for penalties
and sanctions to be imposed on professionals breaching acceptable
standards of practice.

Outcomes for health to which this output class
contributes
Public health, consumer safety and care, and accident regulatory
frameworks are improved so that they better protect the health and safety
of New Zealanders while minimising industry compliance costs.
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Quantity, quality, timeliness and cost of occupational
registration
The quantity, quality and timeliness performance measures for theThe quantity, quality and timeliness performance measures for theThe quantity, quality and timeliness performance measures for theThe quantity, quality and timeliness performance measures for theThe quantity, quality and timeliness performance measures for the
following activities were achieved unless otherwise stated:following activities were achieved unless otherwise stated:following activities were achieved unless otherwise stated:following activities were achieved unless otherwise stated:following activities were achieved unless otherwise stated:

Support services

Support services are provided to nine occupational registration boards
in accordance with the annual statements of service agreed with each
board: These services are provided in accordance with the standards
recorded in the annual statements of service agreed with each board.

Registration and licensing

Occupational registrations under seven Acts are issued in accordance
with statutory requirements:  Registers of each profession are accurate
and are updated regularly, applications for registration are processed
in accordance with the instructions specified by the Boards, invoices for
annual practising certificates and licences are invoiced by 1 March on
receipt of fees, licenses/annual practising certificates are issued within
20 working days and applications for fee increases or changes are
processed in accordance with Cabinet instructions.

Monitoring and enforcement

Occupational regulation under seven Acts:  Complaints are processed
according to statutory procedures; a report giving the detail of the
number of complaints being processed by the boards will be prepared
at the end of each quarter.
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Output Class 6: Occupational Registration

Actual year Budget year Actual year
ended  ended  ended

30/6/98  30/6/98 30/6/97
($000)  ($000)  ($000)

Crown Revenue 0 0 0

Third Party Revenue 1,601 1,814 1,547

Total Revenue 1,601 1,814 1,547

Total Expenditure 1,519 1,814 1,459

Net Surplus/(Deficit) 82 0 88
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7. Ministerial Correspondence and
Parliamentary Questions

Description
This class of outputs involves the provision of responses to ministerial
correspondence and answers to parliamentary questions put to the
Minister and Associate Ministers.....

Quantity, quality and timeliness

Description Annual performance Performance
measure during 12 months

to 30 June 1998

Responses to
ministerial
correspondence

Estimated at 6,000 to
7,000 based on 1995/96
and 1996/97 data.

A total of 7,166
responses to ministerial
correspondence were
prepared.

90% of responses are
prepared within the
timeframes agreed with
the Minister‘s office.

74% of responses were
prepared within the
agreed timeframes.

No more than 7% of
final replies are
returned for drafting.

6% of final replies
were returned for
redrafting.

All responses are
signed out by a
manager.

All responses were
signed out by a
manager or in
accordance with
delegated authority.
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Output Class 7: Ministerial Correspondence and
Parliamentary Questions

Actual year Budget year Actual year
ended  ended  ended

30/6/98  30/6/98 30/6/97
($000)  ($000)  ($000)

Crown Revenue 2,000 2,000 1,934

Third Party Revenue 0 0 0

Total Revenue 2,000 2,000 1,934

Total Expenditure 1,974 2,000 1,902

Net Surplus/(Deficit) 26 0 32

Description Annual performance Performance
measure during 12 months

to 30 June 1998

Responses to
parliamentary
questions

Estimated at 1,300 to
1,600 based on 1995/96
and 1996/97 data.

1,160 responses to
written and oral
parliamentary
questions were
prepared.

All responses are
prepared within the
timeframes agreed with
the Minister‘s office.

All responses were
prepared within the
timeframes agreed with
the Minister‘s office.

All responses are
signed out by an
Assistant General
Manager or General
Manager.

All responses were
signed out by an
Assistant General
Manager or General
Manager.
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8.  Health Information Services

Description
This output class includes:

• the collection, processing, maintenance, analysis and dissemination
of health data, health statistics and health information

• the continuing maintenance and development of the national health
and disability information systems

• the provision of appropriate national databases, systems and
information products

• the development and provision of health and disability information
standards and quality audit programmes for data

• the co-ordination of ongoing national health and disability
information collections, and proposals for their development.

Outcomes for health to which this output class
contributes
• Purchases of health and disability services are well planned, are

aligned to HFA regional populations and their needs, and services
aimed at maximising health gains are provided efficiently.

Quantity, quality, timeliness for information services

An estimated 10 to 20 briefing papers will be provided to the Minister
during 1997/98 (estimate based  on 1995/96 and 1996/97 data).

18 briefing papers were provided to the Minister during 1997/98.

Two key priority projects will be delivered during the financial year
that specifically contribute to the Ministry’s work in the information
area.
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The Ministry specified two priority projects for Output Class 8 in the
Purchase Agreement with the Minister. Both of these were completed.
Regular reports, and meetings with the Minister ensured that full
consultation took place.

Both of the two priority projects directly related to the achievement of a
key result area (KRA).  KRAs are the strategic goals for the Ministry in
support of the Government’s strategic result areas (refer to the text below
for details of these projects).

Key priority projects

• Implement future ownership/stewardship options for national health
information resources (eg, National Health Index/Medical Warning
System and National Minimum Dataset). [KRA 6]

Consultants were engaged to conduct a review of the governance
arrangements for the future provision of health information services, in
accordance with the terms of reference approved by Cabinet in
November 1997. The consultants’ report was completed in March 1998
and a consequential paper has been prepared for Cabinet decision.

• Implement initiatives supporting sector-wide secure exchange of
health information in the interests of New Zealanders‘ health, patient
care and treatment with a focus on primary care, mental health, child
health and Mäori health:

i. development of a tool to allow general practitioners access to
integrated primary and secondary care information

ii. implementation of a pilot project to integrate primary and
secondary care information.

The New Zealand Health Information Service has developed the ‘Health
Intranet’ initiative to enable the electronic transfer of information
between all types of health and disability providers. This is aimed at
enhancing the ability of providers to link the communications
infrastructure and use the National Health Index (NHI), and also to
improve the security of communications.  The infrastructure is now
available. The pilot projects were deferred until the completion of a
Privacy Impact Assessment scheduled in July 1998.  A pilot integration
primary and secondary care information has been developed using 31
general practitioner sites covering 114,000 patients.
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Quality and timeliness

Database and information services will be provided to internal and
external clients such as RHAs, to the levels specified in service
agreements.

Monthly and quarterly data to meet monitoring requirements were
produced in accordance with agreed service levels for time, budget and
quality specifications.

The quality of information services is measured by the operation of the
national health information systems in accordance with agreed service
levels; agreed protocols and/or specific contracts; peer review and
quality assurance of all analysis and publications is undertaken before
release; there is ongoing monitoring of all projects or collections by senior
staff according to documented quality assurance procedures and client
satisfaction.

 The operations of the National Health Information Systems (NHIS) were
measured against the service levels specified in the NHIS Access
Agreement, and these were met.

All data analysis was internally peer reviewed before release and all
publications were both internally and externally peer reviewed.

The targets for processing all statistical collections were regularly
monitored by senior staff to check progress against milestones.

Client satisfaction was regularly monitored by account managers who
frequently visit and communicate with clients.

All outputs will be delivered within set timeframes and according to
specifications and prices agreed with clients, where these have been
negotiated.

This performance measure has been achieved.
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Output Class 8: Health Information Services

Actual year Budget year Actual year
ended  ended  ended

30/6/98  30/6/98 30/6/97
($000)  ($000)  ($000)

Crown Revenue 5,657 5,657 6,289

Third Party Revenue 1,425 1,279 566

Total Revenue 7,082 6,936 6,855

Total Expenditure 7,058 6,936 6,849

Net Surplus/(Deficit) 24 0 6

Explanation of Major Variations
Financial performance

The appropriation for this output class was increased by $1,043,000 in
the Supplementary Estimates. This represents increased usage of
the National Minimum Dataset and the provision of other health
information to third parties.
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Management Information

1. Integrity of the Public Service

Ministry’s policies, standards and values
The Ministry’s policies, procedures, guidelines and manuals are
published electronically in a central location on the Ministry’s network.
Included on this database are the Cabinet Office Manual, Core Ministerial
Services Application Manual, Code of Conduct for the Public Service,
Corporate Policy Manual, Corporate Style Guidelines, Financial
Management Guide, the Framework for Management (which includes
management values, our mission and delegations), Guidelines for
Communicating with Māori (Kawe Korero), Guidelines for Engaging
and Managing Consultants, Human Resources Policies, Māori Language
Policy (He Kaupapahere Mō Te Reo Mäori), Media Procedures, Travel
Policy, Guidelines to the Official Information Act 1982, Risk Management
Training Manual, Health Policy Guidelines, and the Working For
Ministers Handbook. A new area has been added to this database for
guidelines issued by other government agencies, such as the Ministry
of Commerce’s Compliance Cost Assessments and Statements.  The State
Services Commission’s guidelines Administration of Statutory Bodies
and Other Committees is also included in this database.

The Corporate Policy Manual and the Human Resources Policy Manual
continue to be updated. Strategy and policy are developed in a
consultative and open environment.

The Ministry issues all new staff with the Public Service Code of Conduct
as part of their employment contract.  The Ministry plans to develop its
own code of conduct during the 1998/99 year with increased emphasis
on conflict of interest.

The Ministry runs monthly induction programmes for new employees.
A review of the induction procedures has recently commenced and the
programme will be updated as a result.

Information relating to the role of public servants in an MMP
environment remains available to all staff electronically.
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Legislation
In the context of the refocusing of the Ministry’s role, a complete stock-
take of all legislation for which the Ministry is responsible was completed.
A policy review of key areas of legislation (public health regulation and
consumer safety) is progressing.

Information

The Ministry has implemented a comprehensive document management
policy. It has resulted in significant improvement in co-ordination and
communication across the Ministry, the availability of information, and
document storage and retrieval. The benefits of the system have
continued to increase with greater use of it.

The Ministry’s philosophy is that all information is to be open unless it
is deemed personal or commercially sensitive, or a budget secret.

Consultation/communication
The Ministry has a policy development framework which includes a
consultation component.  In order to assist with consultation, guidelines
are published internally.  The Public Health Group has a statutory
responsibility to consult, which it proactively discharges.

A collection of the Ministry’s key published material has been made
available on its Web site.

Services
Through its planning processes the Ministry has placed considerable
emphasis on the provision of strategic policy and advice. A
communication strategy was developed which recognises the need to
build relationships and partnerships, increase two-way communication
with the sector, and improve public communication.

The Ministry has also published standards which deal with the
operational aspects of the Ministry’s function. These include the New
Zealand Regulatory Guidelines for Medicines, which specify the
performance targets for new and changed medicines and related product
applications.

The Occupational Registration Board Secretariat has performance
agreements in place with each of the boards it services.
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2. Strategic Human Resource
Development

Human resources strategy
In the context of the Strategic Business Plan, work was done on the
realignment of roles within the Ministry.  This involved the
reorganisation of the Ministry into five branches in early 1998/99:

• Policy

• Mäori Health

• Performance Management

• Regulation and Protection

• Corporate.

The Ministry’s Human Resources Strategy focuses on the management
of change in line with the Strategic Business Plan.

Human resource planning
A key focus of human resources plans and activity has been the
management of change.

An Implementation Plan was developed for the Human Resources
Strategy.  The Ministry incorporated the projects and objectives in the
Implementation Plan into the Human Resources Operational Plan for
1998/99, along with the other Human Resources and EEO initiatives.

Human resource information
The Ministry has reporting systems that are additional to the information
required by the State Services Commission. Improved internal reporting
has recently been introduced.  Opportunities to increase the strategic
significance of the information available by increasing the scope of the
information collected continue to be sought.

Human resource data is collected for planning and internal monitoring
purposes and in order to inform and support strategic choices.  Increased
dissemination of human resource information to line managers has also
occurred in order to enhance their performance and the quality of their
decisions.
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EEO data continues to be collected, and the understanding of
organisational issues gained through the analysis of this data features
in the Ministry’s strategy development.  Opportunities for improved
access to comparative data are being explored with the changes in data
available from the six-monthly report to the State Services Commission.

Succession management and senior management
development
The Human Resources Strategy identifies the need to retain more senior
and highly skilled staff within the organisation, and recognises the need
for alternative career paths in order to achieve this.  In the development
area, the strategy identifies the need to put in place training programmes
targeted at managers, potential managers, and senior analytical staff.  It
also identifies key skill development requirements.  The aim of the
planned initiatives, along with the skill development programmes
already provided by the Ministry, is to ensure provision for current and
future skill requirements in the most cost-effective manner.

The Ministry’s managers have been engaged in a range of training and
development programmes contained in individual development plans.
These plans were created by managers themselves in consultation with
their own managers.  The basis for these plans were a series of objective
assessments of each manager's performance, compared against a pre-
agreed set of competencies.  Managers were provided with detailed
feedback on their performance against each competency and used this
information to determine what training and development they needed.

The strategy for ensuring skill replacement/enhancement is based on
internal development across as broad a base as is practical.  It is also
based on improving retention and opening up alternative career paths.
It is expected that this will reduce losses of skilled staff.

Good employer requirements
All of the Ministry’s human resources policies and procedures comply
with the Good Employer requirements of the State Sector Act and all
other legislative requirements.  The Ministry has taken an integrated
approach to equal employment opportunity by routinely requiring EEO
implications to be assessed and reflected in proposed policy/procedures.
The Ministry’s culture is flexible and values diversity.
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As a good employer the Ministry of Health has particular responsibilities
to Mäori as employees, including recognising:

• the aims and aspirations of Mäori

• the employment requirements of Mäori

• the need for greater involvement of Mäori in the public service.

The Ministry has worked to fulfil its good employer responsibilities to
Mäori  through its ongoing commitment to:

• facilitate Te Whakaruruhau, the Mäori caucus, which partly functions
as a support mechanism for Mäori staff across the Ministry

• implement Ministry-wide strategies to improve organisational
responsiveness to the special needs of Mäori

• provide opportunities for staff training and development that
enhances individuals’ knowledge of tikanga Mäori, te reo Mäori and
the implications of the Treaty of Waitangi.

The Ministry has enjoyed relative success in EEO terms.  However, we
continue to be aware of the importance of the employment of target
group members. The increased participation of target groups in the
Ministry remains a goal and the Ministry continues to put in place
strategies to improve such participation rates.

In the period 1 July 1997 to 30 June 1998, the breakdown of staff by
gender, ethnic group and people with disabilities was as follows:

Gender (%) As at 30 June 1997 As at  30 June 1998

Female 64.27 61.16

Male 35.73 38.84

Ethnic Group (%)   As at 30 June 1997 As at 30 June 1998

European 66.97 74.90

New Zealand Mäori 5.35 8.76

Pacific Islands Group   2.95  3.00

Ethnic Minority 3.88 4.58

No response   20.85   8.76



Page 116

Self Identified
Disability (%) As at 30 June 1997 As at 30 June 1998

Yes 14.58 9.96

No 62.92 77.89

No response   22.51  12.15

Employee relations strategy
The Ministry has an agreed Employee Relations Strategy.  The emphasis
is to manage change and has been done successfully. Open, transparent
processes operate in full consultation with employee representatives and
staff. Good relationships have been established and maintained
throughout the process.

The Ministry monitors employee relations issues on a regular basis and
is comparatively successful in this area.



Page 117

3. Risk Management

Policy statement on risk management
An integrated risk management application was installed in pilot form
on our Lotus Notes system in 1997.  It complies with AS/NZS 4360:1995
and meets the April 1997 State Services Commission expectations for
risk management.  The risk management system is live and is on-line
for all managers. The Ministry moved to full integration as a routine
management technique.

Organisational culture and promoting risk
management
The risk management system is goals-based and facilitates the
management and tracking of progress towards the Ministry’s objectives.
It was rolled out progressively and fully installed by August 1997.
Management information is becoming more useful as data is
accumulated in the system.

The Director-General and general managers restate the risk management
policy to staff, and continue to reinforce the Ministry’s commitment to
its application in strategic and operational contexts.

Ongoing regular communication with staff on risk management raises
staff awareness and participation in the system.

The system has been enhanced recently to promote a focus on KRAs.
Risks are being tagged to KRAs, and vice versa, in order to mainstream
the system and enable the risk management of progress towards KRAs
to be gauged.

In due course this will result in formal KRA reporting having a risk
management component.
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Senior management review
A pattern of regular senior management review of risk management
systems is being established to optimise efficiency and effectiveness.
General managers and senior executives will assess processes of risk
management against best-practice guidelines to ensure a consistent and
effective approach, and to promote its use as a mainstream management
function.

A performance management system is in place which links individual
objectives to the objectives of each section.
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4. Year 2000 Computing Issue

Ministry of Health internal IT systems
The main standard applications used by Ministry are Year 2000
compliant. However, there are a number of ad hoc user-created and
ad hoc software packages being used.  A thorough review and analysis
of these applications is currently underway.  Where these applications
are critical they will be upgraded or redeveloped, otherwise they will
be relinquished.

New Zealand Health Information Service
National systems

The operating system for the national systems is HP-UX running on
HP9000 hardware. The New Zealand Health Information Service will
upgrade to the compliant HP-UX 10.30 well before 2000.  The database
for national systems, Sybase, is able to store dates as ‘date fields’, which
incorporates century as well as year.  The National Health Index (NHI),
Medical Warning System (MWS) and the National Minimum Dataset
(NMDS) all make use of this feature.

Supplier systems

All dates sent to the NHI/MWS and NMDS are required to contain
century, and this is supported by the HL/7 and EDI messaging standards
and the standard file format for NMDS data transfer. All supplier systems
are currently able to provide birth dates originating in the nineteenth
century, for example 21/01/1897.

LAN

LAN servers are all new with the exception of one Novell server due to
be decommissioned shortly.  All new PCs are compliant and all the older
PCs are about to be replaced.
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Office products

The New Zealand Health Information Service has installed Windows
95 with the latest releases of Microsoft Office products and has entered
into a Microsoft Select agreement which will continue to provide
upgrades.  All Microsoft Office products are Year 2000 proofed.

Software development

Since the development of the national systems all new software has been
specified to include century in date fields (all modern databases and
software development products support this).

Query languages and packages

The main database query languages, SQL and SAS, handle century in
date fields, as does TPL, the package used to produce our annual report
tabulations.  The only files without century in date fields are historical
and are no longer updated.  These files do not pose any problems when
dealing with queries requiring their use.

Non IT areas

All infrastructure aspects of the Year 2000 have been assessed and, where
necessary, assurances of compliance sought from suppliers. Although
these have not always been forthcoming, the Ministry is compliant in
all significant aspects of its operations and it is most unlikely to be
disrupted by the impact of the Year 2000.

Year 2000 in the health sector

The Ministry has taken a proactive position in helping move the sector
as a whole towards greater preparedness for the impact of the Year 2000
and to promote acceptable and consistent standards. A Minister’s
Overview Group has been established as a forum for communication
and as a way to monitor the progress of all parts of the sector. Standard
guidelines and checklists have been prepared, based on international
best practice, and these have been distributed widely as well as being
made available on the Ministry’s Web site. The Ministry is an active
member of the NZ/ Australia Consultative Committee for Year 2000 in
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the health sector and is working closely with Australian counterparts to
gather information. The committee is sharing this information on
processes and procedures and is establishing a knowledge base of
compliant clinical equipment to aid the work of medical technicians.

The aim of these moves is to facilitate a common focus in the sector on
the issues around the Year 2000 and on the most effective ways of
preparing for them, while recognising the existing network of
responsibilities and accountabilities.
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5. Management Controls

A performance management system is in place which links individual
objectives to the objectives of each section.

Systems are in place for the control of key processes: project management,
policy management, asset management and service delivery.

Appropriate internal controls are in place which focus on key
management systems and processes.

A sound and comprehensive self-review system is in place which
includes an appropriate degree of independence through internal and
external audit, self-evaluation and peer review, the use of consultants
and experts from outside the Ministry, continuing appraisal of best
practice from world sources, and established procedures for external
consultation and feedback on key issues.

There is an internal audit function, actively engaged in the installation
of the risk management system, involved in regular and ad hoc audit
issues. The Internal Auditor reports to the Director-General and the
General Management Team.
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6. Information Management

Policy statement on information management
The Ministry of Health supports open and flexible network access to its
information (unless otherwise secured for personal or Budget reasons).
The bulk of this information resides on a Lotus Notes infrastructure and
is available to all staff members, regardless of location.

A current information management strategy
The Ministry of Health continues to build on the new Lotus Notes
computing environment.  Several new functions have been added to
the system to provide high-level information gathering, filtering, and
alerting. New applications continue to be created in the new system to
provide for further automation of processes and streamlining how the
organisation goes about its business.

Secure electronic connections have been established with Parliamentary
Services to aid in information sharing and collaboration with Ministers’
offices.

The Ministry of Health has established good relationships with other
departments using Lotus Notes and is actively sharing applications and
experience with them.

Organisational culture promoting information skills
development
A review of the new systems was undertaken early this year and resulted
in a favourable response overall. Minor enhancements were requested
and these have been integrated into the ongoing development of the
systems.

Development of the internal Ministry Web site continues. This will result
in easier site administration, better statistics gathering, and much easier
information publication.  It is intended to provide for the creation of
public and private discussion databases, as well as public and private
document libraries.  Also intended is the deployment of search engines
and drill-down capabilities for selected audiences to search and view
statistical information in a variety of ways.
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Effective information risk management
Information management risks have been identified and are being
managed through the risk management application.

Ongoing senior management ownership and review
of information management
As mentioned above, the review of the current Lotus Notes system led
by the Internal Auditor was successful. This review took into account
ongoing senior management ownership issues.
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7. Office Accommodation

As at 30 June 1998, the Ministry occupied 10,275.54 square metres of
rented office accommodation.

As at  30 June 1997 As at  30 June 1998

Total space allocation
  per person  19.2 square metres  23.8 square metres

Total occupancy costs
  per person  $3,567.47  $4,065.77

Total occupancy costs
  per square metre  $185.63  $170.14
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Ministerial Advisory Committees
Administered by the Ministry of
Health

Name of Committee No. of Meetings

AIDS Medical and Technical Advisory Committee 2

Cervical Screening Advisory Committee 3

Child Health Advisory Committee 3

Child Nutrition Survey Technical Advisory Committee 2

Committee Advising on Professional Education 6

Food and Nutrition Advisory Committee 2

Infectious Disease Advisory Committee 2

Maternal Deaths Assessment Committee 0

Medicines Adverse Reactions Committee 4

Medicines Assessment Advisory Committee 5

Medicines Classification Committees 2

Medicines Review Committee 0

National Advisory Committee on Health and Disability 13

National Blood Transfusion Service Advisory Committee 3

National Ethics Committee on Assisted Human Reproduction 5

National Nutrition Survey Technical Advisory Committee 2

Radiation Protection Advisory Council 3

Toxic Substances Board 3
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Ministry Managers and
Chief Advisors

General Management Team
Karen Poutasi Director-General

Philip Davies Deputy Director-General, Policy Branch

David Lambie Deputy Director-General, Corporate Branch

Ria Earp Deputy Director-General, Mäori Health Branch

Peter Hughes Deputy Director-General, Performance
    Management Branch

Gillian Durham Deputy Director-General, Public Health Group

Internal Audit
Steve Brazier Chief Internal Auditor

Policy Branch
Todd Krieble Acting Policy Director

Cathryn Ashley-Jones Policy Director

Rachel Robson Principal Analyst

Harvey Steffens Principal Analyst

Chris Harrington Manager, Services

Chief Advisors Policy Branch
Colin Feek Chief Advisor (Medical)

Frances Hughes Chief Advisor (Nursing)

Gill Grew Chief Advisor (Services)

Lester Mundell Chief Advisor (Disability Support Services)

Janice Wilson Chief Advisor (Mental Health)
Director, Mental Health

Māori Health Branch
[Vacant] Chief Advisor (Māori)

Te Kete Hauora
[Vacant] Manager, Te Kete Hauora
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Performance Management Branch
Des Houlihan Director, Performance Management Unit

Wendy Edgar Programme Director, National Health Committee
    Secretariat

Andrew Holmes Director, Elective Surgery Policy

Public Health Group
Selwyn Katene Manager, Public Health Policy & Regulation

Helen Wyn Manager, Public Health Intelligence

Judy Glackin Manager, Prevention Policy

Gail Powell Manager, Food and Nutrition

Peter Cole Manager, Consumer Protection

Gina Lomax Manager, Licensing

Chief Advisors Public Health Group
Pat Tuohy Chief Advisor (Child Health)

Debbie Sorensen Chief Advisor (Pacific Health)

Bob Boyd Chief Advisor (Regulation & Safety)

Ron Paterson Chief Advisor (Services)

Corporate Branch
Paul Cohen Group Manager, NZHIS

Yogesh Anand Manager, Information Systems

Vicky Sheldon Manager, Information Delivery

Peter Abernethy Manager, Corporate Communications

John Wilson Manager, Corporate  & Ministerial Services

Stuart Low Manager, Human Resource Management

Anthony Hill Chief Legal Advisor/Manager, Health Legal

Carol Leckie Manager, Facilities Management

Raj Narayan Chief Financial Officer/Manager, Corporate Finance

Deidre Butler Manager, Information Technology

John Lozowsky Manager, Information Management

David Curry Manager, Assignments

Clare Van der Lem Business Manager, Therapeutics

Sonia Thistoll Manager, Occupational Registration Boards Secretariat

Jim Turnbull Business Manager, National Radiation Laboratory

Frances Ross Chief Advisor (Media)


